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--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.

 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.

     Good morning, everyone.  This is the second day of the oral evidence portion of application EB-2007-0680.  Are there any preliminary matters before we begin?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. RODGER:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Good morning.  Just a few matters, sir.  The first is, I'd like to hand out a few documents.  I've provided copies to Ms. Campbell to provide to the Board and my friends.  And perhaps these could be marked as exhibits as I describe them.

     The first one is a large single-page spreadsheet with the title on the top "Distribution expense 2006-2010".

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And that would be S2.1.  And I'm going to take that up and hand it out as they get marked so everybody has them.

     MR. RODGER:  S2.1.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  S2.1.

EXHIBIT NO. S2.1:  SINGLE-PAGE SPREADSHEET ENTITLED "DISTRIBUTION EXPENSE 2006-2010".
     MR. RODGER:  And just to give you some context for this, Mr. Chairman, this was a matter that we discussed in the ADR.  And the intervenors found this breakdown helpful, so we said we would use it for the hearing.  So that's the first item.

     The second handout is five pages, and page 1 is entitled "Shared services, Toronto Hydro-Electric System's THESL paid to THC".

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And that would be S2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. S2.2:  FIVE-PAGE DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SHARED SERVICES, TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM'S THESL PAID TO THC".
     MR. RODGER:  And again, so the Board is aware, there is no new information in these tables.  This is information that's either been prefiled in the evidence or provided in -- by way of interrogatory response.


And again, we prepared the information so that the services back and forth between THESL to THC and THC to THESL are in one place for each of the test years, and hopefully that will be helpful for the parties.  And Mr. Couillard will speak to this exhibit in his panel 2.

     We also have a one-page document that has the 

handwritten notes on top "see Board Staff IR1.7".

     Again, this was a page that Board Staff raised in the ADR and asked us to present as part of this case.  So if we could give this an exhibit as well, please, Ms. Campbell.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  This would be S2.3.

EXHIBIT NO. S2.3:  ONE-PAGE DOCUMENT WITH HANDWRITTEN NOTE ON TOP "SEE BOARD STAFF IR1.7".
     MR. RODGER:  And next, Mr. Chairman, there was a two-page memo that we sent out to all parties and the Board yesterday afternoon.  And this is entitled "Correction to smart meter capital and depreciation figures".  And again,  if we could mark that as an exhibit.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That would be S2.4.

EXHIBIT NO. S2.4:  TWO-PAGE MEMO ENTITLED "CORRECTION TO SMART METER CAPITAL AND DEPRECIATION FIGURES".
     MR. RODGER:  And Mr. Jamal will speak to this in his panel 3 evidence, but the bottom line is that, as Toronto Hydro has been getting ready for panel 3, it's discovered a couple of errors in terms of depreciation expense pertaining to Smart Meters, and as I say, Mr. Jamal will speak to this.


The long and short of it is that the corrections mean that -- or the combined effect of the errors is an overstatement of the revenue requirement of 2.8 million.  Therefore, the revenue requirement will decrease by that amount.  That will be spoken to in panel 3.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I know the parties will find it extremely helpful to get these documents in time for their preparations for Thursday.

     MR. RODGER:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that's helpful.  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  The other matter, sir, was, Mr. Vlahos had raised a number of clarification questions around the settlement agreement.  And yesterday afternoon we circulated to the Board and all parties some revisions, which we hope will deal with the issues.

     In particular, if you have a copy of that revised agreement, and if you first go to page 7, sir --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This is on the revised version, not the one that I just -- this is the "final draft for discussion only".  Is that the document I should be looking at?

     MR. RODGER:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And that would be S2.5.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


Second-last page, Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes.  And if you go on page 7 to the second paragraph, under "settlement" -- perhaps I'll just read it for the record.

     We've tried to clarify this issue about Mr. Vlahos' concern about the earlier reference to "any debt".  So the paragraph now reads:

"Additionally, parties agree that the forecast cost of short-term debt and new long-term debt in a given test year will be updated using the Board's methodology for the deemed long-term and short-term debt rates to determine the corresponding rates applicable in that test year.  This methodology is defined in the report of the Board on cost of capital and second-generation incentive regulation for Ontario electricity distributors, dated December 20th, 2006, in Section 5.1, cost of capital."


And Mr. DeVellis has suggested that we include further words after this sentence in brackets, ("the Board guidelines").  And that's fine with Toronto Hydro.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have a bit of a disconnect here, Mr. Rodger.  The document that I'm looking at, at page 7 --

     MR. RODGER:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- the paragraph that you just read stops after the words "the corresponding rates applicable in that test year".  And the reference to the Board's report has been deleted.

     MR. RODGER:  I think maybe you may have a wrong copy, Mr. Chairman.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ah.

     MR. RODGER:  This is the one that --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, the copy that you just provided me, Mr. Rodger, it doesn't have it either.

     MR. RODGER:  Okay.  I think --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Now, I think --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  What was just marked S2.5 is what I'm looking at, and it does not have that.

     MR. RODGER:  I think the copy that's just been made has just been the wrong version.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So do you want to take that back?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes.


MS. CAMPBELL:  So perhaps what we should do is, we'll be taking a break at 11:00.  Why don't we try to get the copy -- the most recent version of the settlement agreement, and perhaps we could deal with the schedule now.

     MR. RODGER:  That's fine, Ms. Campbell.  And I apologize for the error.

     Just one final preliminary matter, if I could, to correct the transcript, yesterday's transcript, on page 6, line 13 and 14.  And this had to do with our discussion about the settlement proposal on issue 5.


And I said that Energy Probe took no position with respect to this issue, and I should have said it was Pollution Probe that takes no position.  So if we could correct the record to reflect that change.


And those are my preliminary matters, Mr. Chairman.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And what I'd like to do right now is deal with the most recent schedule, which everybody should have received yesterday, and this schedule reflects discussions that took place at the end of day, yesterday, between the various parties who are involved in the hearing.

     And in order to continue with the discussion I'm going to have, I'm going hand out a copy.  I'm going to make it, actually -- today I'm going to actually make an exhibit, because we will be having different versions of this schedule, possibly, so to keep track, just for the purposes of good housekeeping, we'll make this -- well, we withdrew S2.5.  So why don't we make this schedule, today's schedule, today being Tuesday, December the 4th, 2007 -- today's schedule will be S2.5.

     EXHIBIT NO. S2.5:  TODAY'S SCHEDULE.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  And I just have a couple of comments to make about it.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I confirm which one that is?  This is the schedule handed out yesterday which we reviewed?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  S2.5 has no CDM panel listed, and it is the version whereby everybody gets out of the room by December 11.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  There is a date and time stamp on the bottom of this which indicates "last printed 4th of 

December, 8:50:46."  A very precise --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, mine says "47".

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, let's have competing versions to make it really tricky, especially for those who are at home, trying to following along.

     The key aspect of this schedule is that it revises quite significantly -- reduces down, rather, the amount of time, as I indicated, that will be spent on the hearing, in that the evidence, we have set aside one day for capital and rate base as opposed to the three that previously occurred.

     Page 3, at the very bottom, indicates that no panel is required for CDM.  However, in the proposed settlement agreement, that still appears to be a live issue, and I was wondering if that could be dealt with in the room now, if that could be clarified on behalf of the intervenors.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think I can indicate that we anticipate that we'll be making some written submissions, based on the interrogatory responses and on the evidence.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So it's a matter of argument at this stage.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not a challenge, per se, of the evidence.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, we don't need to ask any questions in oral.  That's all, from our perspective.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Does that answer your question, Ms. Campbell?

     MS. CAMPELL:  Yes.  So there does not need to be an amendment to the settlement proposal to remove the issues as they relate to CDM.  Rather, they will be dealt with strictly in writing in argument.

     MR. RODGER:  I just wonder if, Mr. Chairman -- the only party that I know has expressed comments on this issue is Pollution Probe, and they're not here this morning.  I'm wondering if Ms. Campbell has heard from Pollution Probe, and whether that's also their expectation.

     MS. CAMPELL:  They were in the room while we were discussing this schedule.  However, it struck me as we were looking at the settlement proposal that we might want to clarify so that the schedule and the settlement proposal are accurate; in other words, that we're not producing a panel when we should have.  And it appears that's been clarified.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just an indulgence for a moment, please.

     --- Board confers

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll take a couple of minutes.  We have a technical problem.  No one needs to go anywhere, but -- Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  While we're pausing, just quickly on one of the exhibits that was entered today?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mm-hmm.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  S2.2, I think.  I think it was indicated that these are coming from the evidence and from the interrogatory responses.  But where they come from isn't actually indicated on the document.  So, to the extent that they're from the evidence or from existing interrogatory responses, it would be nice in preparing to cross-examine on this to know where these came from.   I thought whoever prepared it could work on that while we're waiting.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And, Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  That's fine, Mr. Chairman.  And maybe just also on this issue, the sixth CDM panel, just so that that's clear.  So we will not call this panel, and I take it there will be no cross-examination questions to any other panel on a CDM-related topic; is that correct?  CDM will be removed from the oral part of this case entirely and dealt with in argument?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The CDM issue per se appeared to be focussed on the question of the funding for the third-slice customer demand subject matter.  No panel seems to be required to deal with that subject matter.

     Now, as we heard, there are other issues that Pollution Probe -- and which could generally be called CDM in nature, are still in play.  But issue 8.1 and issue 8.2 would seem to not require a panel and not be subject to cross-examination.  The evidence would not be tested per se, but, as I understand it, will still be the subject of contest by way of submission.

     MR. RODGER:  That's fine.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that a fair statement, Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I think so.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     We are ready to continue.  Are there any other observations with respect to the schedule?  Even though this schedule has contracted significantly, the Board will still be rigorous in this application. So we expect to meet the schedule on an ongoing basis, although we certainly have a little bit more latitude.

     Having said that, Mr. Rodger, are you prepared to proceed?  And I guess Mr. DeVellis is going to continue with cross-examination of this panel.

     THESL PANEL 1:  CONTINUED

JEAN-SEBASTIEN COUILLARD; PREVIOUSLY SWORN.

     ANTHONY HAINES; PREVIOUSLY SWORN.

     PANKAJ SARDANA; PREVIOUSLY SWORN.     

     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:
     MR. DE VELLIS:  Thank you.  Good morning, Mr. Chairman.

     Good morning, panel.

     I want to start off by reference to something that you said yesterday, Mr. Haines, in your conversation with 

Mr. Warren.  You said something about your budgets being built from the ground up.  I just wanted to ask about that process, and I think a good place to start would be 

Mr. Couillard's budget memo, which is at Exhibit C1, Tab 4, Schedule 1, Appendix "A".

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, we have it.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  If you look at the bottom of page 1, you have a table there with the various, I guess, timelines.  And the first one is a review of prior year results.  And I think you said yesterday that that's something that the executive does; it reviews the past year's results, and that forms sort of an input into the planning going forward?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, that's fair.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And then the next two items listed there are establishment of strategic goals and objectives, and then approval of those by the board of directors.  That's also something that the executive would do?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And then if you turn over to the next page, you have number 4:

"Engagement and communication of approved strategic goals and objectives to employees."

     I take it, then, that the strategic goals that are developed by the executive after reviewing the past year's results and developing the strategic objectives and presenting those to the board, those are communicated to the board, and those form an input into the individual budgets that are prepared by line managers?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.  Guidance for the executives when preparing budget.

MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  So I think you would agree with me, then, that to the extent that those strategic objectives form an input to the line managers, that's sort of a top down direction.

     MR. HAINES:  The strategies are set by the executives.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  We'll see in your individual OM&A and capital budgets some significant year over year increases from 2008 over 2007; sometimes 15, 20 percent.  Is that a fair statement?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, I think we went through those changes yesterday, but there are increases in the O&M associated with these initiatives that I've spoken about.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Is it fair to say that the line managers, you wouldn't have all your line managers coming forward with 15 to 20, sometimes 25 percent increases in your budgets without some input or strategic direction from above, from the executive.

     MR. HAINES:  The executive, so I meet with my direct reports.  We develop the strategies.  They go away to work with their direct reports on establishing the direction with respect to the budget, and then those managers and supervisors prepare their budgets in accordance with those strategic directions.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  Now, I just want to get back to point 4 there, "Engagement and communication of approved strategic goals and objectives to employees."  How was that done?  Is there a document that's --

     MR. HAINES:  No, it's discussion, a live, face-to-face discussion.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  When you talk about approvals, strategic goals and objectives by the board of directors, is there something given to the board of directors to approve?

MR. HAINES:  There's a presentation made at a board meeting.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Has that been produced?

     MR. HAINES:  We have not released that information.  That's a part of our confidential board information.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Can we get a copy of that?

     MR. RODGER:  It's a copy of which, Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Of the presentation made to the board of directors, of the strategic goals.

     MR. HAINES:  Perhaps it would be helpful -- what I can tell you is, we have four strategic goals for the corporation that are discussed with the board.

They are the health and safety of our workers.  We discuss that in detail.

We discuss the modernization of the utility and the need to renew our infrastructure.  That is discussed in detail.

They are to build a new customer service model with time-of-use rates.  They are discussed.

And the final one is the financial performance of the organization.


So those are the objectives that we set and discuss with the board.  They are done at a high level, initially.  We're getting their consensus to buy into those strategic objectives, and then a budget is prepared on that basis.


And so we get together as a management team and talk about those objectives and what's necessary to achieve them, and away everybody goes, and the process of beginning the budget cycle begins, and people go away and prepare their individuals budgets, knowing that those are the directions of the company, and then we come back together and review those.


And so that's the cycle, and so there's no -- you know, there's not a bunch of documentation that goes on into the preliminary stages of this.  It's when you first see the budgets coming back is really when you have something to work with.  Up until that point, it's largely a discussion about the direction and what we're hoping to see in the budget.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  But you mentioned earlier there was a presentation to the board of directors regarding the strategic objectives.

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, we -- I have a discussion.


--- Reporter appeals.


MR. DeVELLIS:  To the board of directors regarding strategic objectives.


MR. HAINES:  Yes, so we have this discussion.  This -- you know, we don't change our strategic direction every year.  And so we affirm to the board that this is -- continues to be our priorities.


And so there's no, you know, there's no additional documents, and it ultimately becomes this business plan document, and it's about at that level of detail that the board gets engaged.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, it seems from your responses there was a different document, not just the business plan you've already produced, but there's a different document that's produced, a presentation made to the --

     MR. HAINES:  So we have a discussion with the board of directors.  I do not recall if there were slides or not prepared around that.  But they're at this very high level, these four principal drivers for the company.  That's the kind of stuff the board would see.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, surely if you're making a presentation to the board of directors, there would be some kind of written presentation --

     MR. HAINES:  Not necessarily.  I do all sorts of oral discussions with the board.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So you're saying that in your -- the approval of the strategic goals and objectives by THESL's board of directors in May of this year -- did that happen in May of this year?

     MR. HAINES:  We had a discussion about the strategic direction, as well as the rate filing, a need to seek rate relief, and so there was a discussion about that at the same time.  So we had a discussion about it; that's right.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And you're saying there was no document presented to the board then?

     MR. HAINES:  I don't recall a document being associated with that, but there may have been.  I just don't recall that.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Well, perhaps you can undertake to find out or to review the records, and if there was a document, to produce that?

     MR. RODGER:  So just so I'm clear, the undertaking is to find out whether a document was produced for the May 2007 Board meeting that dealt with strategic objectives of THESL's?

     MR. HAINES:  Yeah, and what I'm nervous about is, you know, the relationship of the board is an important one, and it remains confidential, and the discussions remain confidential.  I'll have a look to see if there was a document.


I get a little nervous about, you know, producing minutes of board meetings and those sorts of things, where a discussion took place.  I think that's the confidentiality of the board, and I need to honour that.


And so I'll have a look to see if there was a slide deck produced for them.  But I get more concerned about things like minutes of board meetings.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, just for my edification, which board are we talking about?

     MR. HAINES:  THESL board, the utility board.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And I wouldn't object if you wanted to file it on a confidential basis.  Others may have comments, but -- if that's the case.  But it seems to me that those strategic objectives do form an input into the budgets that are ultimately presented before this Board, so I think they would be relevant for us here.

     MR. RODGER:  But I think the evidence, Mr. DeVellis, is that the strategic objectives are the same that have been filed in this confidential exhibit, S1.1.  I'm not sure how -- where it takes us to have another in-camera session, if we're dealing with the same strategic objectives that are contained in the exhibit that's already before the Board.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess whether there would be a further in-camera session would be dependent if there are any questions arising from the undertaking.


Are you objecting to the undertaking, Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  We'll undertake to see whether a slide deck was prepared, but I think you have Mr. Haines' evidence that the strategic objectives were the same.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board would be inclined to require that to be filed on a confidential basis and circulated only to those who are governed by the confidentiality undertaking.  And anyone who -- anyone else who would want to get access to that would -- will have to make representations to the Board.  But the Board will require the applicant to make that undertaking.


Could we have a number for that, Ms. Campbell?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The undertaking would be T2.1, but I'd like to have some clarification myself.  When I was listening to the undertaking, I understood it to be to determine whether or not a slide deck had been produced for the May meeting of the THESL Board.  And it seems to have evolved into production of the slide deck.


So can I say -- do I understand the undertaking to be to determine if a slide deck was prepared and, if it was prepared, to in fact produce it with the confidentiality -- subject to the confidentiality provisions in the Practice Direction?  Is that accurate?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. DeVellis, is that what you would like?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that would be Undertaking --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  T2.1.


MR. SOMERVILLE:  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. T2.1:  TO DETERMINE WHETHER A SLIDE DECK WAS PREPARED AND, IF SO, TO PRODUCE IT, SUBJECT TO THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS IN THE PRACTICE DIRECTION.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, just to get back to point number 4 here, are you saying there's nothing in writing provided to line managers regarding company strategic goals if that would help them form their budgets?

     MR. HAINES:  This is the document that is being referred to.  This is the guidance that's given to management in preparing their documents.  And so we have a meeting with my direct reports, verbal meeting, no document.  And then this material here that you're looking at is what comes from that as guidance for the individual managers and supervisors to prepare their budget.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, but this can't be the document, because this document is dated February 19, 2007.

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And what you have under point 4 is in May, I guess, 2007.

     MR. HAINES:  Some verbal discussion.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Some kind of engagement -- communication to employees regarding strategic goals.

     MR. HAINES:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  So that implies there's some other -- something, and I'm asking, is that a document, or is that --

     MR. HAINES:  I'm not aware of what my direct reports produce for discussions with their managers.  What I can tell you is when I meet with my direct reports, we meet, you know, as a regular course of business, and we talked about it, and there was no need to prepare a, you know, clarifying document.  They went away on the basis of that conversation and prepared their budgets.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And what you described earlier sounded like a high-level sort of overview of the company's goals.  Can you help me understand at what point the line managers take that and develop their budget?  How does that process work?

     MR. HAINES:  Well, there are detailed plans underneath this.  For example, we filed a ten-year capital renewal plan.  And so that continues to be one of our major drives, major strategic goals.

     And so we are really affirming that we are moving on the implementation of that plan.  And so the managers would take that plan and prepare their budget in accordance with the plan.  That's, in fact, one of the review processes that we do in the budget exercise, to see if we are on plan.

     And so that would be a, you know, supplemental piece.  But really, at the strategic level, we're setting the goals and affirming that we're still moving in the same direction.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And once those budgets are prepared, are they reviewed again by the executive?

     MR. HAINES:  Yeah, it's an iterative process.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And changes made?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you turn to CCC Interrogatory Response No. 6.  And that is --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. DeVellis, can I ask you, when you're talking, could you not turn away from the microphone, because I really cannot hear you?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I beg your pardon, Ms. Campbell.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  It is Exhibit R1, Tab 3, Schedule 6.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Do you have that?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And the question was:

"Please provide copies of all written materials, including notes, memoranda, and reports prepared for or produced as a result of the business planning process described in this exhibit."

     The exhibit being the one that you were just looking at.


And your response to that:

"All documents related to the business planning are described in Exhibit C1, Tab 4."

     Now, "are described", that wasn't the question.  The question was to produce the documents.

     MR. COUILLARD:  And I can take that, Mr. Chair.

     The interrogatory was very vague.  I mean, this is a budget process, so we're going through, and as we've mentioned, a long series of discussions.  We are an organization that gets a lot of people involved in their business process.  All the executives sit at the table, so there are several iterations.  We use a computerized tool, basically, and every business unit goes -- I don't want the board to get into too much detail.

Every business goes and enters their budget.  And it's reviewed, and you know what?  As any keypunching exercise, we can see some time, even with the transcript, there are some mistakes that are made and we have to go ask review and make some changes.

     How many different versions of the budget did we get?  

Probably six in total by the time we started doing the first entry, and looking at the results of the outcome of those.  All along, basically, we have weekly meetings with all the executives.  Everybody goes in front of us and discusses what's included in their budget.  Usually Mr. Haines and myself sit there and do, I wouldn't say a detailed review, or we criticize the budget.  Some other executives might see that as being a bit picky at times.

     And we look at all the different numbers.  So, you know, to start producing, like, do we want to go and, like, printing every single sheet of input that's been done for the sixth iteration; let's get a big dolly in and start wheeling the paper in here.  So we looked at this as we really have one budget.  It's not like we debate budget 1, budget B, budget C.  All along everybody brings their different assumptions and they're debated.  So we don't produce budget 1, budget 2, budget 3.  It's really more of an interactive process.

     Yes, we did have six iterations.  Did the expenditures go down during that process?  Absolutely, during that process, it did at certain points.  When we look at these iterations, the main goal is obviously the feedback not only from Anthony and myself, but other members of the executive team.  Somebody in operation might have something to say about what IT is spending their money on because ultimately they're the client.  But the main thing we're reviewing is compliance with our ten-year plan, which has already been filed, compliance with our staffing plan, which to us is a big component of this application.  I think we're going to get into that later on, with the compensation and the increase in head count.  So that's the over-averaging review we do.

     So, coming back to this, looking at these interrogatories, to start producing any type of material, any type of entry sheet was -- you know, basically we have one document.  It's the business plan that's included in the evidence.  And the guidance to prepare in the plan is actually the memo that’s included in the exhibit we’ve looked at in C-1.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Let me put it to you this way, 

Mr. Couillard.  If a line manager came to you with a certain budget and you said to them, or Mr. Haines said to them, "No, that's not enough, come back with something else," that would be something that we would be interested in seeing, that would be relevant for this Board, as an example.

I'm not saying that that's in the document.  But if something like that was in there, that would be something that we'd be interested in seeing.

     MR. HAINES:  Let me perhaps take that one.  I do not recall a single department coming forward with a budget that we said, "Make it more."  Or, you know, it's largely a 

cutting exercise.  And so you look at it and you say, "No, we're not going to do that.  No, these are the priorities of the corporation.  No, you're not aligned here."

And you flip every stone over and you go through six iterations and you produce a budget that's your best forecast.  And so that's the exercise that we go through, and it seems to be the normal exercise that any budget exercise involves, iteration after iteration to get to the goals.

     And so there is not a lot of us driving costs up.  

There is really an exercise of us saying, "No, this doesn't 

align with our overall business objectives and underlying 

detailed plans that we have."  That's the exercise we go 

through.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  What you produce in terms of the budget-setting process is the budget memo and the end result; is that fair?

     MR. HAINES:  That's right in terms of the budgeting, but there are detailed plans around, for example, staffing and capital and all the supporting documentation takes place.  And that's part of the details that make up the budget.  So all of those documents are available as well.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  No, but I'm talking about the actual budget-setting process.  You're talking about the background information; that's fine, but I'm talking about the actual process your company goes through to set the budget.  And what we have is the budget memo, which is in February of this year, and then the end result, which is the prefiled.

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, so we've given you the process and the budget.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, no, you've given us the beginning of the process and then the end.  There's nothing in the middle.

     MR. HAINES:  We have not provided the six iterations that we went through; that's correct.

MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And surely there were some e-mails or some other documents from the executive to the line managers regarding their budgets, comments on their budget.

     MR. HAINES:  I have no idea.  As I said, I meet with my director reports, you know, in an oral discussion, and they meet with theirs.  I have no idea if there are e-mails which fly around.  I would assume there is.  We have 15, 1,600 employees.   I would assume there are some.  But in terms of the formal process, I'm not aware of what discussions take place between managers and supervisors.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  I'm not asking for production of all e-mails between all the managers.  I'm talking about 

e-mails from the executives to the managers.

     MR. HAINES:  And I'm telling you that I have a verbal discussion with my direct reports.  There is no e-mail that comes from me defining the budget guidelines.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  The last item on the list there at Exhibit -- back to the budget memo, Number 8, is approval of overall five-year business per annum by THESL's board of directors.  And I think that's November 2007?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Is there a different business or an additional business plan in addition to the one that you've produced that was at 7.6 --

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, we've just finished the THESL process, and we are, I believe, going through the corporate process right now. I'd ask JS to elaborate a little more on that.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And is there something that you can produce?  Is it ready?

     MR. HAINES:  The THESL business plan for '08 to '12  has been approved by the THESL board.  I believe it has been approved by the corporate board.  However, it has not gone to the shareholder yet.  So we have not communicated that with our shareholder.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  But would you be able to produce that here?

     MR. HAINES:  The piece I'm most nervous about is, we haven't -- with respect to our shareholder, we haven't discussed our plans with them yet.  And so to have a discussion about that in this formal setting, albeit in-camera, we have not discussed the business plan with the shareholder at this time.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  When is that going to happen?

     MR. HAINES:  I believe it's being scheduled now.  It's being scheduled now.  Normally it happens early in the year.  We expect January.  But I can tell you that it matches this information that you see here in front of you.  There are no two business plans for the company, I guess.  There's one that's the EDR.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Okay.  And perhaps I can ask you to produce that by the end of the hearing, if you've managed to get approval of it or presented it to your shareholder by then.

     MR. HAINES:  If we present it to the shareholder by the end of the hearing, absolutely.  We will file that in confidence, of course.  Is that --

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And that undertaking would be T2.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. T2.2:   TO PRODUCE BUSINESS PLAN ONCE PRESENTED TO SHAREHOLDERS, TO EXPIRE ON THE DATE SCHEDULED FOR INTERVENOR ARGUMENT 

     MR. DE VELLIS:  And "by the end of the hearing," I mean before, I guess, the arguments are filed.

     MR. HAINES:  We're happy to file it as soon as we've met with the shareholder.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And this is to file the business plan that's been approved by the THESL board but has yet to be presented to the shareholder?

     MR. HAINES:  I understood the undertaking was to file the business plan once it's presented to the shareholder.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Provided that occurs within the timeframes of this proceeding and that the timeframe for this proceeding does not include -- I mean, where do we want to draw that line?  Where does that line -- after the filing of argument-in-chief?

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Well, in my view, as long as a decision hasn't been rendered, although the evidentiary phase of the hearing is over, the additional exhibit can be filed if people want to comment on it.  I don't anticipate there would be further cross-examination on it.

     MR. RODGER:  Our view would be, Mr. Chairman, that it should be a cut-off, by the time I file my argument-in-chief.  Otherwise it is, if you like, a matter that hasn't been resolved, or could open things up, and I don't think that's in anybody's interest if we prolong this.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It certainly creates the danger that we would have to sort of reconvene to consider this evidence.  And I would expect that if that were to be considered, it would require representations from somebody -- you, Mr. DeVellis, most likely -- to say that the matter is of such importance as to require that extraordinary step.  So -- just a moment, please.

     MR. RODGER:  I think you also have Mr. Haines' evidence that it's the same messages anyway as what is before the Board in this application.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll qualify that undertaking to be time-limited, so that the undertaking would expire on the date scheduled, to be determined, for intervenor argument in this case.  So once that milestone has been passed, this undertaking will have no currency.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  I'd just like some clarification now on financial statements that are -- you presented at C1, Tab 7, Schedule 1, Appendix "A".

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Tab 7, Mr. DeVellis?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Tab 7, you said?  C1, Tab 7?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  As far as I can tell, Mr. DeVellis, there is no appendix --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, no, I realize -- sorry, I think I have the wrong tab in my notes.  It might be -- I'm sorry, B1, Tab 7, Appendix "A".  I apologize.

     MR. COUILLARD:  We have it.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  Thanks.


And can you explain -- and I'm looking at page 3 of 4 of the financial statement, "Statement of income."  And you have operating expenses.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  For 2006, 169.1 million.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  And that seems to match with the -- your own expenditures on D1, Tab 3, Schedule 1, which is 169.4 for 2006.


--- Reporter appeals.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The OM&A expenditures that you've listed in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit D1, Tab 3, Schedule 1 of 169.4 million.  Is that right?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  So are those numbers comparable then?

     MR. COUILLARD:  The 169 point -- Sorry, you said D1?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  D1, Tab 3, Schedule 1.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Correct.  169.4.  This is Table 3.  Versus the 169.1.  There might be some rounding.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, I was on Table 1, but I guess it's the same number.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.  This is the same number, Mr. DeVellis.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  So if you just follow along Table 1, though, the numbers in the subsequent years don't match.  And I'm just wondering if you can explain that.  For example, for 2007 you have 178.6 million in the financial statements and 171.6 in the prefiled evidence, and then 202 versus 196 for '08 and 212 versus 206 for '09, and 217.8, or .9, versus 213.8 for 2010.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Ah.  I know there is an explanation, I just don't have this here, because I was expecting that on the -- for the 2 panel.  Can I take an undertaking and maybe come back, sir?


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.


MR. COUILLARD:  Would that please everybody?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis, could you stipulate the undertaking, please?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Sure.  To reconcile the difference between the operating expenses listed at Exhibit B1, Tab 7, Schedule 1, Appendix "A", page 3, and the OM&A expenditures listed in the prefiled evidence at Exhibit D1, Tab 3, Schedule 1, page 1, Table 1.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That would be undertaking T2.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. T2.3:  TO RECONCILE THE DIFFERENCE BETWEEN THE OPERATING EXPENSES LISTED AT EXHIBIT B1, TAB 7, SCHEDULE 1, APPENDIX "A", PAGE 3, AND THE OM&A EXPENDITURES LISTED IN THE PRE-FILED EVIDENCE AT EXHIBIT D1, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 1, PAGE 1, TABLE 1.
     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And if we have follow-up questions to that undertaking, can we address those to panel -- I guess it would be 5 or 4?

     MR. HAINES:  It will be me, but --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  4?  5, sorry.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That will be 5.

     MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  That's fine.


Mr. Chairman, that concludes my questions on this portion of the evidence.  I have some additional questions on the business plan.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The confidential material?

     MR. DeVELLIS:  The confidential material.  I understand Mr. Rodger wanted to do his redirect first, and then we will go in-camera.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.  Just a couple of redirect questions.

     RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. RODGER:
     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Haines, my friend Mr. Warren had a discussion with you about the three years of approval that you're seeking.  And he seemed to suggest that there would be harm, in that there wouldn't be public scrutiny over not seeing an application over that time, and your response was that, well, this is the window to review it.  Do you remember that exchange?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, I do.

     MR. RODGER:  If I could just take that one step further.  Could you tell me what, in your view, what the harm would be to Toronto Hydro if you do not get these multi-year approvals?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Rodger.

     I'm going to use the word "momentum".  Our plans are long-term plans, and they need multiple years to plan and implement them.  And as a result, it's very difficult to start and stop, start and stop, start and stop, as we work our way through the capital renewal plans, the staffing plans, the implementation of our time-of-use rates.  It's very difficult to manage the company with that start-and-stop model.

     And so to build the momentum necessary to see these important initiatives completed, we believe the three years will give us that certainty in order to build that very important momentum in completing these plans.

     MR. RODGER:  And you also had an exchange with Mr. Warren about productivity, and he asked you about where productivity improvements were in the evidence.

     Is it your evidence, sir, that Toronto Hydro is not concerned about or does not drive productivity?

     MR. HAINES:  Absolutely not.  In fact, if the ultimate measure of productivity is what's happened with the rates over the last two years and, through the application, the next three years, the 1 percent half of inflation is the ultimate indication of the productivity that we're driving.

     However, what I was trying to say was that we don't account for productivity from an accounting sense.  In other words, we follow the Uniform Chart of Accounts when recording our expenses.  We don't put productivity initiatives into a bucket and say we've achieved 1.25 percent productivity.

     Having said that, however, the application is full of productivity measures that we are working on, and perhaps I could elaborate on some of those.

     First of all, at our headcount. Of course, human resources being one of the largest costs of the corporation, at amalgamation we had roughly 2,400 employees.  We have 1,500 today.  Even with the ramping up of the new workforce, we are still substantially below the historic levels of the corporation.

     We've achieved this through amalgamating jobs and working more efficiently.  You will hear from our facilities people that we are taking seven facilities and our plan is to operate on four.

On our fleet, it's quite a story there as well.  At amalgamation we had a thousand vehicles.  Last time we were before this Board, we had 750 vehicles.  Today we have 660 vehicles in the plan.  We eliminated a hundred vehicles out of our cost system last year.  And I'll remind you that we're doing much more capital.  So we're now utilizing those assets far more efficiently, and I expect we're getting close to achieving maximum utilization of our vehicles.

     Going through other areas of the organization and looking at, for example, the large cost around customer care in our call centres, building and implementing new technologies to deal with customer support.  We have introduced web pages to help our customers go to the web instead of calling a CSR.  We're introducing electronic voice response systems.  And I think about our ramp-up around the Smart Meters and time-of-use rates, we're optimizing the use of our two call centres and looking for the most efficient price structure there.

     In going around the organization and in our control rooms, we've introduced new technologies where we've taken the six utility systems that existed previously, and we're putting them on a single system.  We digitized our system.  

But much more than that, what we're now doing is, when a customer has an outage, it comes into our new system, our new management system, and that system through intelligence points our crews to the most likely cause of the outage.  This is a major efficiency improvement for the company.

Where we today operate with multiple desks within the control room, these new technologies will allow us to be far more efficient in our control rooms in the future.  

In the operations areas -- obviously one of the big cost areas of the company -- fundamentally we're doing more capital with the same resources.  We've almost doubled the capital plan, but we haven't doubled the resources, so we're working far more efficiently with our workforce.

     We've also done other initiatives, however.  We've, 

I'll call it refreshed the training.  What we're doing is we're taking the folks that do underground work for us, the distribution assets below ground, and so we've refreshed our training, so that in the case of a storm they can go out and help our above-ground crews with that response.  So we're using those resources more efficiently.

     You're going to hear about consolidation of jobs, where in the past it's taken perhaps two employees to do a 

job, now we've consolidated those duties and now it takes one person to do that job.  And so we've been driving those initiatives.

At the senior ranks, we are driving what I have described as fewer executives doing more.  Just recently we had an executive leave the company.  We didn't replace that executive.  We took those responsibilities and divided them up amongst others.

And so it goes on and on and on.  And these are just touching on some of the highlights.  But I certainly want to stress the point that we drive efficiency.  You've heard already the budget process.  We flip every stone over.  It's an agonizing process.  We go line by line, but that's how we achieve these things.  And we don't assume the status quo is good enough.  So we're asking our managers and our executives to drive efficiency daily.

     MR. RODGER:  Just one final area, Mr. Haines.  One of my friends also took you to a decision of this Board, released August 2007.  This was the Hydro One Networks decision EB 2006-0501.  And one of my friends took you to page 10 of that decision and read part of the Board's findings to you.  I just want to read you one paragraph that starts the Board's findings, on page 10 of that decision.  

The Board stated as follows:

"The Board has been supportive of regulatory mechanisms that provide greater regulatory predictability, reduce regulatory burden, and offer appropriate incentives to a regulated utility.  This is clearly demonstrated by the Board's multi-year rate-setting plan for electricity distributors and its current initiative on multi-year incentive regulation for natural gas utilities.  A multi-year revenue requirement for adjustment mechanism for electricity transmission may ultimately be appropriate for Hydro One.  However, the Board cannot accept the RRAM proposed by Hydro One."

     Now, just first off, Mr. Haines, Toronto Hydro is proposing nothing equivalent like Hydro One did in terms of an RRAM.  That's not part of your case, is it?

     MR. HAINES:  That's correct.

     MR. RODGER:  And looking at the Board's findings being supportive, of, for example, providing greater regulatory predictability, could you tell me how the application before the Board achieves the goal of providing greater regulatory predictability?

     MR. HAINES:  Thank you.  We have a three-year cost of service in front of you.  I think we've had a fair amount of discussion about that.  And a decision would therefore allow us to move forward with those plans.  It allows us that certainty, an envelope, if you will, of dollars available to implement these plans.  We're not asking for a blank cheque.  We're asking for approval to move forward on these very important initiatives.  And so that is the certainty that we're seeking here.

     MR. RODGER:  What about the Board's second point, being supportive of reducing regulatory burden?  How does this application achieve that goal?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.  I think we're all weary from the amount of work on our desks.  And particularly, it's very difficult for the utility to run efficiently and come forward every year with an application.

     And so we think that this really allows the company to focus on executing the plans, instead of defending them.  

And so it's a very important aspect of the business planning process.  I'm not sure, frankly speaking, that we could, with the work force that we have available to us, come forward every year in the way that we have come forward this year with the kind of detail and quality that we have here.  We're asking our executives and our managers to do double duty.  And they have done a superb job from my perspective in preparing a quality application.  But we can't ask them to do what they've just done year after year after year.

     We would have to build a different kind of resource base in order to prepare an application year after year after year.  We couldn't simply ask the managers and the executives to just do more, just come in every evening, just come in every weekend as you have been.  That's not practical on a sustained basis, and so we would probably have to look at the staffing around our regulatory affairs in a different kind of way, if we were going to come in more frequently.

     As I said yesterday, if we got a one-year plan approved, we would simply have to file immediately for the next year.  The process would be a continuing process that would last three years.  And so as I said, one three-year plan, I think, is more efficient than three one-year plans.  

We don't have to review the plans three times in order to make a good decision.

     MR. RODGER:  And finally, Mr. Haines, how does your application offer appropriate incentives to regulated utilities, in your view?

     MR. HAINES:  Well, we are without doubt going to have to manage within the envelope.  There will be things that will go the wrong way for us.  Things that we didn't see,  or things that changed.  And we'll have to manage against that.

     And so our incentive, of course, is to deliver the plans, to make sure that we are doing what we said we were going to do, and to the extent possible, if unexpected events come, manage to them.  And so we will be highly 

incented to work to the plan.

     And so, as I said earlier as well, any savings that result during the plan period then are dealt with in the benchmarking or in the rebasing period.  And so those ultimately, all those efficiencies will then flow into the next rate-setting exercise.

     MR. RODGER:  Those are my questions.  Thank you, sir.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Chair, I apologize.  I wasn't fast enough off the mark after Mr. Rodger started his reply.  I do have a handful of questions to clarify, and I was wondering if I might be allowed to ask those.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please, Ms. Campbell.


QUESTIONS BY MS. CAMPBELL:

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  As I said, Mr. Rodger was too quick for me.  But it does pick up on something that 

Mr. Haines was just discussing.

     And what I'm asking about is if the application, the proposal for a three-year cost of service approval is not entertained by the Board, is it Toronto Hydro's intention to file another cost of service application in 2008 for the 2009 rates, or would Toronto Hydro deal instead with rate-setting in the 2009 and 2010 period through the third generation IRM process?

     MR. HAINES:  I think it would be our intention to file a cost of service filing immediately, or as soon as possible.  I don't know what will result from the IRM process.  I think I was asked yesterday, are we going to participate in it?  We actually offered to participate in it and it was declined, and so we are going to sit on the sideline and be the, perhaps, the interested party on the side, watching what comes from it.  But we have to continue to run our business.

     And so therefore, while the best vehicle we have available to us today is a cost of service filing, and so it would be my expectation that we would file cost of service as soon as possible.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And just one final question.


Mr. Warren yesterday discussed with you materiality, and this was specifically on, for those who wish to look it up, page 55.

     And Mr. Warren simply said, if the changes that you see warranted by the results are material, then what would you do in light of the fact that you've asked for and been granted three years' worth of approval?  And your answer started with: "The materiality question is a little more complex."


And my question to you is:  How would Toronto Hydro define a material change?

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. HAINES:  I don't think there's an absolute dollar amount associated with that.  I think there can be a lot of considerations at the time.  And so I don't -- I can't say it's "X" dollars or it's "X" percentage.  We would look at the circumstances that have occurred and the -- what has caused them to happen and make our decisions on that basis.

     I mean, obviously the request is one thing.  The successful acceptance of that request is another thing.  And so just because we request something doesn't mean we're going to get it.  And so we would certainly look at those matters that are beyond our control as one of the main drivers to determining whether we come forward with a large variance that's occurred.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So if I could just clarify what you're saying then, is if it is, you said beyond your control, would it be external and material that's beyond your control, or internal and material?

     MR. HAINES:  I'm thinking external, but as I say, you know, I don't want to limit this to saying, you know, under no circumstances will an internal change not be brought forward if a condition has changed.


But, you know, I can think of some examples that are internal ones where, you know, we could not have foreseen it at the time of the application.  But I'm generally thinking about external factors.


I think I used the example of the data management system that's being built by the province through the ISO and the costs associated with that.  So eventually, I assume those costs will be passed on to the LDCs, and there could be a material amount there.  I mean that would be an example of something we haven't planned for in detail at this point.  We don't know what the dollar amount might be.  And it's beyond our control.

     And so those would be things that, you know, off the top of my head I would see us coming forward with.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. HAINES:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Questions from the Panel?  The 

parties will have an opportunity to ask questions arising from the Panel questions.


Mr. Vlahos?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

     QUESTIONS BY THE BOARD:

MR. VLAHOS:  Panel, just one area, a couple of questions.  But before I get there, just to clarify, Mr. Haines, on a number of occasions in your exchange with Mr. Warren, when he was talking about the rate impacts, you kept referring to net of rate riders.  So I'm not sure what to make of that statement.


Directionally, am I looking for higher rate increases, lower, or we just don't know?

     MR. HAINES:  The reason I was referring to the net is because there are some riders that are coming off, and so therefore when we look at the impact on distribution rates, there's the distribution component, and then there are riders that are coming off.

     The reason I want to look at it in that way is because some of those riders are associated with costs that are now going into the distribution line.  And so there's a transfer of costs, and I'm thinking here about the Smart Meters, where they were previously a rider.  They're now in the rates.  And so to look at the impact that the company is having on the distribution rates, you need to look at it with both of those line items.


MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But from the perspective of the ratepayer, the bill that he or she will receive -- I'm not to make anything of your comments whether the direction will go up or down?

     MR. HAINES:  I'm sorry, I missed the last part.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I'm not to make anything of your comment whether those rates or the bills received by the -- the invoices received by the ratepayer will go either up or down?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.  When we think about it in terms of the total bill for the customer, if approved, this application would be about a 4 percent increase phased in over three years.  So that includes these costs, as I've talked about, in our distribution rates and the reduction of the rate rider.  So all of those, when factored into the total bill, would be that 4 percent number.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  And of course, the other component of what the ratepayer pays is disposition of deferral accounts.  And you don't have a view as to whether those balances will increase or mitigate that rate of increase that you just mentioned?

     --- Witness panel confers.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Vlahos, if I may be of some help here.  The rate increase, the 4 percent over three years that Mr. Haines was referring to, includes a disposition of all the current variance accounts that we have.


So when we factor those -- and the biggest, the largest one is our market-opening costs that were recovered over a period of three years, that is ending, you know, I think it's at the end of '07 or early in '08.


So when we factor that the customers are no longer going to be charged for these variance accounts, and also factor that we have some variance accounts that I'd say, like, are in the money for the customer perspective, the overall, when we consider all this, is a 4 percent rate increase.  Hoping I'm shedding some light here.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you for that clarification.

     Okay.  So to get to my main point, my main questions, I have heard there is a ten-year capital renewal plan.  I've heard -- we heard that yesterday and today.  And then there's the three-year capital plan within that larger renewal plan.


And panel, excuse me if I don't face you directly, because I have to face the microphone, okay?  So I don't mean disrespect.


And there is the three-year rate plan.  Is this the first time that the company is going through this exercise of having a long-term plan that would encompass ten years?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes, that's correct.  We were -- we came forward last time in '06 and described the need to prepare the plan, and we were ordered to prepare that plan, and filed it.  And so it was the first of its kind for us.


Remember that we were an amalgamation of six utilities, and so for a long -- I guess the beginning of that amalgamation, we were really learning about what the assets were and what they weren't, and we were developing the information necessary to prepare that plan.  So this is the first time the company has prepared a long-term look at their assets.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So what would be a typical long-term renewal plan for a distributor, I guess electricity?  Let's stick with electricity.

     MR. HAINES:  I'm not actually aware of others having ten-year plans.  Normally they coincide with, you know, the regulatory cycles.  And so, you know, I think there's, you know, there's documents obviously out there in the province, like the IPSP, you know, that sets some direction on long-term plans, but I'm not aware of other distributors having ten-year capital plans for their distribution assets.

     MR. VLAHOS:  What about other sectors, Mr. Haines?  Is a five-year plan unusual?

     MR. HAINES:  I think the five-year is more typical.  If I recall my days back in the natural gas industry, we would have a five-year plan, and we would look at expanding our distribution assets into new communities, and we may have some sense of, you know, order, which ones may come first and second, so on, so forth.  But I don't recall them being ten-year plans.  They were five-year plans.


I do recall on, again, another project I was involved with, with the gasification on Vancouver Island, taking gas to Vancouver Island for the first time, that was a 20-year plan, because of the substantial capital investment and government involvement in that.  But that's probably the longest I've ever seen.  But more typically, you would see five-year.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Haines. And, in fact, you mentioned the gas sector, and I was going to ask you a question about this.  I wasn't sure about your experience with the gas sector.  I'm happy to hear that you have considerable experience in that.     

So it's not unusual for the gas sector.  And if memory serves -- I don't want to give evidence -- that five-year plans are typical for the gas utilities in this province.  

Is that your understanding?

     MR. HAINES:  I believe that's correct.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So how this five-year plan -- the gas utilities typically come in for an annual review?

     MS. CAIN:  My experience is, we did not.  We were actually able to stay out for a number of years.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.

     MR. HAINES:  But that may have just been the times.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So in the older times, it was typical for the gas sector, gas to come in perhaps once a year, and perhaps miss a year from here and there.

     MR. HAINES:  All right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  And its capital expenditure for the test year, whether it would be every year or every couple of years, it would be predicated on this longer-term plan. Five years, in this case.  So and the industry went on, and it thrived and it served well.  And it continues to serve well.

     What is it, in your view, that on the gas side has   there seemed to be more comfort, if you like, that capital expenditures that may be characterized by lumpiness, by uniqueness in terms of the time period, that those were accomplished by shorter-term rate-making?  Do you have any comment on that?

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.  A couple of differences, from my  perspective, between the two industries.  First of all, gas has been regulated by the Ontario Energy Board for many, many years, decades.  They've matured through that process, and so become, you know, comfortable with the rate-making exercise.  And there is a lot more predictability associated with it, as you've described.  You have a five-year plan and then you have a one-year budget, if you will.  And as I was saying, you may have gasification into new areas.  But it was fairly smooth.  The expenditures tended to be smooth in nature.

If I recall my experiences at Union Gas, for example, there wasn't an awful lot of systems betterment, I think as we described it in those days.  It was mainly expansion of the distribution assets.

     Contrast with Toronto Hydro's case.  We've effectively been regulated from a rate-making exercise for just a few years.  And so the '06 application was the first time we came in and had our costs reviewed.  We had gone through five years of rate freeze, as these companies amalgamated and learned to run like commercial enterprises.  I don't think there was the focus.  You know, historically, there wasn't the focus on the assets and the need to renew them on a regular basis.

     They were largely run as departments of the cities.  And they were run on the same philosophies that sometimes they run their infrastructure on.

     It wasn't until '06 that we started saying you can't look at your assets in this way.  You need to have a longer-term plan.  And when we started looking at the state of our assets and the aging of those assets, we realized we needed a long-term solution.  And that's what drove us to the ten years.  And so that ten-year plan is really the first time we've done something like that.  It is directional in nature.  

In other words, the three years is more detailed than the ten years.  And without doubt, you know, the fourth year as we come back would be more detailed again. So we're kind of, I guess the term would be, peeling the onion on the asset, and focussing right now on those most critical pieces.  But it by no means is all of the assets that need to be replaced.  We're simply focussing on those critical or high-importance assets.  And so that makes it a little lumpy, you know.  We haven't attended to it, perhaps, in a way that we should have historically.  And so we are trying to put the company on those principles that you described, where you have more predictability and you can get into a more of a rhythm and, you know, planning exercise, and come forward, you know, on that basis in the future.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Haines.

     I would also take, then, from what you said that there appears to be less comfort with what the regulator may be doing or may do in the future, compared to the gas side.  Would that be a fair statement?

     MR. HAINES:  I don't know if I would call it comfort.  

I guess this is maybe a self-inflicted wound, one of these statements, but I'm very comfortable with cost of service filings.  I grew up in them and, I think they work well.  And so as long as that vehicle is available to us, I'm comforted that we can come forward and defend our need to invest in our infrastructure.

     So I don't see a problem on the horizon from the regulated perspective.

     MR. VLAHOS:  So you don't think that there is more risk of adversity on the electricity sector versus the gas sector simply because of the timing?  I mean, we have regulated the gas industry a lot longer than --

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.  There's without question more history to the gas.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Right.

     MR. HAINES:  But whether one is more risk averse than the other, I don't think I can draw that conclusion, having worked in both industries.

     MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  So you would want an approval of the plan, as well as the rates, for three years?  Those are your objectives?

     MR. HAINES:  I think that's fair to say.  We're looking for the rate relief here.  But the plans, I think, underpin that rate relief.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fair.

     You heard Mr. Warren and others, and I'm sure you will hear more in argument, about there have been other components, there have also been other components that also drive revenue requirement.  Load forecast will be an example, and we'll hear about this in the days to come.

     So it is not only the capital expenditure side and the uniqueness of the human resources component of your revenue requirement; there may be other things that will kick in.  

Load forecast is one example.

     How do you respond to that?  If you are after the capital expenditure side and the uniqueness of the human resources component, then any views as to whether we can sort of mitigate the concerns that would come from other components of the revenue requirement?

     MR. HAINES:  Well, the one that you've picked, of course, the load forecast, we're comfortable with our load forecast.  I think we think it stands up.  However, you know, I mean, from a mechanical perspective, I would point out that load forecast doesn't drive the revenue requirement.  But having said that, we're comfortable that we can predict rates.  Pardon me, predict volumes and  loads.  We have enough history on this one to be able to predict it within a range.  It will no doubt be wrong, but we think that those variances will be minor in nature.

     Once you've dealt, frankly, with the capital and the people, you've dealt with the lion’s share of the revenue requirement.  You know, you have asset carrying costs.  I think we've talked about already having a mechanism there around interest rates.  And so there's really very little left in terms of material swing factors other than those factors that I've described earlier being beyond our control, or externalities, if you will.

     And so if we deal with those, you know, the people, the assets, we've dealt with by far the largest portion of the revenue requirement.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, so you did mention that load forecast does not drive the revenue requirement; is that what I heard?

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, Mr. Vlahos, with respect, our revenue requirement is based on costs.  The load forecast, the only link to that is the working capital allowance through costs of power.

     MR. HAINES:  I think it's just a technical response --

     MR. VLAHOS:  Load forecasts would drive the rates.

     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.

     MR. HAINES:  That's correct.

     MR. SARDANA:  That's right.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  That's what I meant.

     MR. SARDANA:  I think you did.

     MR. HAINES:  That's why I was cautiously correcting you.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you for that.

     Is it possible for the Board to conclude that -- to give you comfort, if you like, that the Board finds that the long-term plan, the renewal plan, the three-year plan, has merit and could comment in that respect?  I'm not sure that would be approval as such, and I don't know what the term will be, but it will give the company enough comfort, but not set the rates for three years?

MR. HAINES:  Yeah, I guess when -- it's sort of the question about, when is an order final?  You know, do we have a cost of service approved or not?  And what kind of conditions do we have around that?


I mean, those are the kinds of things that, you know, I don't want to somehow back my way out of a three-year cost of service filing.  You know, if you put so many conditions around it, we perhaps would be better just coming forward, you know, three times.

     And so, you know, I certainly would be uncomfortable with too many of these, you know, sort of directional support, if you will, for a plan, as opposed to a specific approval of our revenue requirement.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I can understand you would be uncomfortable with it.  It's not your preference.  It's not the company's preference.  But you must have seen that on the gas side, Mr. Haines?

     MR. HAINES:  Probably the difference with the gas is, you know, we've been regulated for 50 years, but the pricing -- or the costs were more stable, and your range of, you know, of unapproved dollars that you were spending was within, you know, much lower sort of materiality associated with your overall costs.

     And so, you know, you might say okay, we're going to expand a main into this area.  It's $2-million.  We don't have regulatory approval for that, but we understand the rules of engagement.  We understand our main extension tests.  We're complying to that.  So there's a high, high likelihood of approval.

     It's another thing to say we're going from $160-million to $300-million CAPEX without approval, and that we hope to get approval.  You know, that's an order-of-magnitude difference.  And so that's where I start to get uncomfortable.

     And so when we make those practical decisions -- and so, you know, on the capital side, for example, we plan one year and execute the next year.  And so we start, then, the planning process.  You're starting to invest a bit of money, you know, in planning.  And, okay.  That's fine.  You start staging, you know, and planning your workforce.  Okay.  I understand that.

     It's when you start actually physically doing the work, you need to have a, you know, a great deal of certainty about it.  You can't undo it, effectively.


And so the same comment around the human resource side.  When you bring that employee on, you're made a long-term commitment.


And so to move forward with the aggressive staffing plans that you see before you, without that final order, if you will, puts the company at a fair amount of risk, because there are a lot of dollars associated with it.


And so I think we would pull back, and we would look for certainty of the -- you know, a regulatory regime.  And so we would come forward with, you know, take this application and divide it into smaller pieces, and come forward again.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you.  So it's a question of degree, what I was trying to describe before, as to whether the Board, you know, this Panel, is able to approve or provide comfort or --

     MR. HAINES:  Yes.

     MR. VLAHOS:  -- something else.


So let's take one extreme.  Say that -- I'm sorry to say "extreme", in the sense that it cannot happen, but, you know, one end of the range, you know, which will say that -- a decision may say that, "We approve the plan.  We think it's a good plan, and therefore, you know, the cost consequences that arise from this plan, you know, going forward, should be approved."

     But nevertheless -- I'm sorry, that's both on the capital side as well as the human resources side, but nothing else.  Therefore, the future proceedings, say second year, third year, or 2009, 2010, there may be some proceeding, but limited, to consider all the other components that may impact revenue requirement.

     How would that play, in your view?

     MR. HAINES:  That's a very difficult question to answer off the top of my head.  And I think the devil would be in the details around that, as to how you come forward and have a discussion about some pieces that are not approved, but not let it spill over into capital and people, you know, which effectively the plans would be approved.

     In your example, I assume you're not limiting the discussion we had about the need to ramp up for time-of-use rates, because that again is one that we need to move now on.


You know, the government has announced next year the need to, you know, start rolling out the time-of-use rate structures.  That involves commitments that we have to make that are long-term commitments.

     And so I understand the model.  I'm just not sure practically how it could be managed while, you know, limiting the discussion to those few things that, you know, are over and above these three buckets.

     I will say again, though, that once we've dealt with the capital, the people, you know, some of these time-of-use rate, you know, Smart Meters, you've got the lion's share of the revenue requirement.


You know, just off the top of my head, my guess would be you've got something north of 90 percent of the revenue requirement at that point sorted out.  So the value of coming back for the 10 percent, the effort necessary to do that, I'm not sure we've achieved the efficiency objective that we had.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Haines.

     This 90 percent, where does it come from?  If I take the additional capital expenditures plus the human resources plan, that would account for 90 percent of the revenue requirement?

     MR. HAINES:  I'm thinking here -- I'm going through in my mind, you know, the revenue requirement, or the P&L, if you will.  I can tell you that something like 55 percent of our costs today are human resource in nature.  I'm thinking about the cost of capital, being the return, the interest rates, the depreciation.  Those probably make up another 20 or 25 percent, I'm guessing.

     So, you know, when I stack those up, what you basically have left is a tree-trimming budget and a couple of, you know, consulting arrangements.  And, you know, that's why I think it's -- at the end of the day, you've probably dealt with the lion's share, the 90 percent.  That's where I get that from, once I go through the sort of revenue requirement in my head.

     MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, sir.  And what I was trying to get to is we're maybe talking about the people on the human resources component of the revenue requirement, and I understand what is contemplated in the plan.  There's also the compensation component, which also drives the revenue requirement.


And I think the plan talks about the numbers that you need, not necessarily -- it doesn't really -- it doesn't really focus on to the compensation side.

     MR. HAINES:  It's the headcount, as well as the compensation.

     MR. VLAHOS:  Correct.  So there is some potential variability to come from the compensation side, which may drive some of the questions from the intervenors.

     MR. HAINES:  There could be some variability, absolutely.  The plan will no doubt will be off.  But it will not be a material amount.

     MR. VLAHOS:  I just find the 90 percent or so surprising, that level.  And I guess we will be able to ascertain that number or how close it is to the real numbers as we move forward.


Thank you very much for those answers.

     MR. HAINES:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I have no questions.  Are there any questions arising?

     MR. RODGER:  No, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll take our break now.  And when we come back, Mr. DeVellis, you have some questions for an in-camera session.  And so when we come back, we will open in public session and then move to in-camera, and then out of in-camera into the next panel.

     So we'll stand adjourned until 11:20.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

     We will now proceed into an in-camera session, which, 

Mr. DeVellis, you have some questions for this panel.  Are 

there any other parties who will have questions during the 

in-camera portion of the panel?

       MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I see no takers.  Mr. Rodger, you may have a redirect opportunity if you need to avail yourself of it, but with that we will go into in-camera.

     That means that no one should be in this room who has 

not executed an undertaking in the form adopted by the Board with respect to confidential material.  I'm looking at each and every person here to get an indication that they are so qualified.

     Mr. Rodger, it's ultimately your interest.  Are you comfortable that everyone here is entitled to be here?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, I am, sir.  Everyone that's required to sign the undertaking has done so.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  With that, we will go into in-camera session.

     I'm turning off the on-air button so we're not broadcasting.

--- In-camera session commenced at 11:32 A.M.

[Note: page 58, line 21 to page 71, line 8

have been redacted]

--- In-camera session concluded at 11:53 a.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  With that, I'm going to turn the on-air button back on.  We are out of in-camera session and back to public session.

     I think at this stage, Mr. Rodger, this panel can be excused.   Thank you very much for your assistance and have a good rest of the day.

     MR.COUILLARD:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rodger, you have a panel ready for swearing?

     MR. RODGER:  We do.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll look to break around 12:30.

     MR. RODGER:  Sir, just while we're changing over.  

Did the Board want to deal with the settlement agreement issues after the lunch break?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think that would probably be convenient.  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This will be panel No. 2.

     MR. RODGER:  Panel No. 2.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Couillard, you are still under oath.

     THESL PANEL NO 2:


AVE LETHBRIDGE, SWORN.


JEAN-SEBASTIEN COUILLARD COUILLARD, PREVIOUSLY SWORN.
     EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. RODGER:

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Chairman, panel 2 has two members: 

Mr. Couillard, who remains from panel 1, and also Ms. Ave  Lethbridge.

Ms. Lethbridge, if I could turn to you first.  I understand that you are the vice-president, organizational effectiveness, of Toronto Hydro Corporation, and that this includes responsibilities for human resources, project management, organizational development and performance, environmental health and safety, and the company's ethics office.

     MR. LETHBRIDGE:  Yes, it does.

     MR. RODGER:  And in this capacity you also have responsibilities for Toronto Hydro Electric System 

Limited?

     MR. LETHBRIDGE:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And your c.v. was filed with the application at Exhibit A-1, Tab 10, Schedule 2-3?

     MR. LETHBRIDGE:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And, panel, was the application prepared by you or under your supervision?

     MR. LETHBRIDGE:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And Mr. Couillard?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Rodger.

     MR. RODGER:  And do you adopt it as your own evidence in this proceeding?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  And Ms. Lethbridge?

     MR. LETHBRIDGE:  Yes.

     MR. RODGER:  Now, Mr. Couillard, turning to you first.  

The prefiled evidence describes certain corporate restructuring activities that Toronto Hydro has undertaken since the last time you appeared before this Board on a rates case.  I wonder if you could briefly describe the restructuring, the reasons for it and the implications that it has on the application before the Board now.

     MR. COUILLARD:  It's a pleasure, Mr. Rodger.  Members of the Panel, our old shared services methodology was developed in 2002, at the time where Toronto Hydro was planning to expand its activities into the unregulated world of energy retailing, if I may -- I don't want to bring too many bad memories.

     We went into full-blown energy retailing affiliate, and at the time we had significantly high expectations for that affiliate.

     We adopted a model where we thought we could achieve significant savings from an overall organizational, and obviously we have translated to the distribution company, where some corporate costs would be shared by all the different affiliates, including the distribution company.

     So at the time there were approximately 250 people, give or take 10, 15 people, that were included in our shared services.  And the services that were included in there were ranging from, obviously, finance, treasury, regulatory, human resource, and all the projects support office, corporate communication, legal; the typical, you know, overall corporate costs that were all into one big bucket.

     And then there were allocations done to the different business units.

     Following the rate freeze that happened somewhere in 

2003 or '04, if I remember well, we decided to cease our energy retailing business and to exit this business, which we had some contract in place, and a fairly favourable contract from an unregulated standpoint.  We earned some what we would consider good returns on these contracts up to December 31, 2006, at which point we did not believe that this type of structure was really suiting our needs because, really, most of the costs were related to the distribution companies.  And so we embarked into a reorganization.

At the same time, the Board issued its decision for our 2006 application and stated that they felt that we should try to use a more of a time-based type of methodology for allocating shared services.

     The methodology that we had been using in the past was mainly based on revenue.  And at the time the allocation of our shared services pool was around 94 percent of the costs that were allocated to the distribution company, with the other costs shared by the other unregulated affiliates.  And most of the costs in corporate were a net zero, so there were no real costs that were staying at the corporate level.  Everything was getting allocated.

     We took the Board recommendation very seriously, and in following our hearing and our reorganization we've embarked into a big process where the first step was to look at every people that were included in our shared services group and see if the vast majority of their duties were related to the distribution company.

     We just sent these people back.  So the people used to be in the distribution company years ago.  They went into corp., and then we sent them back if most of their time was spent on the distribution company.

     That meant about 210 people actually moved back into the description company.  Today we have approximately 35 people on the corporate side.

     So the two things we had to review are: how do we allocate the time of these 35 people, and the second thing is looking at the people that were transferred to the LDC.  Were they still performing services on behalf of corp. or on behalf of the unregulated affiliate within the spirit of ARC, obviously?  So how would we allocate these costs?

     The first step for us was to look at, you know, time base.  So we've, for the 35 people that we had, we've done a major time analysis saying where these people are spending their time.  And we came back with a significant change in the way the costs were allocated.

     As I previously mentioned, we used to have around 94 percent of our costs of shared services getting directed to the distribution company. Well, this number is around 60 percent.


And if we talk about number, in our previous application, we were approved for the transfer of approximately $51-million in shared services costs from corporate to the distribution company.


This time, what this application is seeking is costs of approximately $7-million transferred from the shared services group to the distribution company.

     On the other side, on the electric system side, we had never really looked at some of the transfer costs beyond the normal use of, you know, computers, you know, facilities, or vehicles.

     So we went and looked at a thorough analysis of some of the services.  Some of the big ones, obviously, that get reallocated to our corporate folks or to the unregulated business relate to, you know, use of computers, facilities.


So we did a big analysis of how much is used, and then we develop a usage-based methodology.  So square footage.  So for example, I am a corporate employee, so they analyze how much -- how big is my office.  So, yes, if I had a very small office, I'd get, like, you know, a smaller allocation.  And they also, you know, charge an overall allocation of all the different areas, common areas, that we have in some of our offices.

     One area that we have that's also had a fair amount of allocation is our treasury and regulatory group, is together.  It's one person.  Mr. Sardana, who was here to testify before you earlier, is in charge of this group.


And treasury in particular, although most of the public debt that we have relates to the fact that we have a distribution company, there is still some cash-management activities and some overall OSC reporting activities that are done for corporate.  So we've allocated some of those costs.

     Following this whole review, you know, the costs, as I mentioned, went down, so corporate now allocates about 60 percent of its costs to the distribution company, with about 15 percent to the unregulated affiliate, and the remaining costs actually now stay in the corporation.

     So corp. basically has to, let's say, eat, but, you know, we basically have costs that we're not allocating to anybody, because they're corporate in nature, governance in nature, and we have not been able to meet the burden of proof from a distribution company or from a regulated affiliate, because, yes, we have ARC to meet from a distribution company, but I also have as a CFO some tax issues, as far as transfer price, and that I have to be very cognizant of.  Otherwise, I'll have CRA on my case.

     When our methodology was completed, we've had it reviewed and audited by R.J. Rudden, who is an external consultant that was hired, and they provide us with a very clean opinion, saying that our new methodology is that -- not only meets the spirit of the decision we received in 2006, which was to develop a time-based type of methodology, but it also meets the spirit of ARC.  So we've done that.  So that's in a nutshell the reorganization that we went through over the last --

     MR. RODGER:  And Mr. Couillard, just to pick up on -- you reference the Rudden study.  And is this the study that was filed at Exhibit Q1, Tab 3, Schedule 6, the report entitled "Review of shared services cost allocation methodology", dated June 30th, 2007?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct, Mr. Rodger.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I believe it's Tab 4, Exhibit --

     MR. COUILLARD:  You're absolutely right.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, Exhibit 1, Tab 4.

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, thank you, Ms. Campbell.

     And Mr. Couillard, at the outset of the proceedings this morning, we entered in as an exhibit, Exhibit S2.2.  Could you just very briefly take us through this document and the information it portrays?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Rodger.  When we prepared this application, we were going, concurrently working on this reorganization and time study and review of our allocation, at the same time that we were trying to derive rates.

     And we basic -- we filed evidence in the case that is not aligned with what actually is included in our rates calculation.  And the reason for it, we just did not have the luxury of time at the end to make the adjustments.

     So what's included in the rates is our first estimate, based on our earlier view of the methodology that was going to be used, and then, you know, what our plan is, is through rate finalization we will update these in order to reflect the final methodology, which was used for the Rudden report, which was also used throughout our application.  All the evidence reflects our new methodology, including the answers to the interrogatories from some of the intervenors.  I can refer here to Board 1.23 and to VECC 3, if I recall.

     To go through the schedule that was provided, the first sheet is entitled, "THESL paid to THC."  The application that is -- the numbers that were used to calculate rates, if I look for 2008, for example, we're showing that THESL would pay THC by $9.5-million.


When we finalize our overall analysis, review our time study, the numbers should actually be 6.991 million, which is the second table here for 2008 that shows that number.

     So that's a difference of $2.4-million for the amount that THESL paid to THC.  Our view here is that through rate finalization this should be reflected in revenue requirements, so the revenue requirements should be reduced accordingly to reflect that change in the application, for all years, 8, 9, and 10.

     Conversely, for the amount that THESL sells to affiliates, including THC, we've also had the same issues.  So now there's a sheet for every year of 7, 8, and 9.  If I can point you to the sheet for 2008 --

     MR. RODGER:  Mr. Couillard, this is pages 2 to 5 on this exhibit?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  So what we had found is actually there are a bit more of the services that were, you know, sold, and we refined our analysis.  In the original submission, THESL was recouping $4.9-million of costs for 2008, when in fact this number should have been $3.4-million, because we did adjust the type of shared services that were actually purchased from THESL.


The main variance relates to services that were no longer needed by some of the affiliates, because we were trying to -- when we review some of the transaction, we did not believe that they were following the spirit of ARC, and that therefore we had to separate them, and the affiliates should not buy these services from the distribution company.  So for a difference in 2008 of 1.5-million.

     Overall, looking at this -- the evidence that we've introduced this morning, for 2008, the revenue requirement should be lowered by 1.450 million; 2009, 1.588; and 2010, 1.657.  We are planning to reflect these changes in our rate finalization document.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Couillard.


Now, turning to you, Ms. Lethbridge, the prefiled evidence contains a compensation study.  Would you please indicate why Toronto Hydro undertook this study and what conclusions are contained in the study?

     MS. LETHBRIDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


A compensation study was conducted based on a directive from the OEB following the previous rate application.  This study forms part of the evidence, so I'll reference you to Exhibit C2, Tab 1, Schedule 3.  And it was prepared by Mercer's Human Resource Consulting  Limited.

     In general, the findings overall, THESL's compensation was found appropriately competitive with the market, with the executives falling below market.

     MR. RODGER:  And Ms. Lethbridge, given that you're leading the HR effort in this application, from an HR perspective, what are the key considerations that you believe that the Board should be aware of concerning Toronto Hydro's proposed hiring and training program?

     MS. LETHBRIDGE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


I'd like to take this opportunity to express that the workforce renewal is a tremendous job.  THESL needs to be able to attract and retain talent going forward.  And we're not alone in this effort, because all organizations are facing the challenge of an aging workforce.


Given a tight labour market, projected retirements, and a really aggressive work program to rebuild our infrastructure, this is making hiring, retention, and training a very critical strategy for human resources.

     THESL has to maintain its reputation of being a good place to work and have competitive renumeration (sic) in place.

     I'll give you an example of young apprentices coming to work for Toronto Hydro having a hard time, you know, purchasing homes in a GTA market.  So we have to be a good employer and we have to have good renumeration (sic).

     Training stretches over multiple years, and the transfer of knowledge from the current seasoned employees to the new trades and technical employees, as well as the front-line leaders, will allow us to meet our infrastructure renewal goals, and at the same time help us develop that next generation of employees.

     Our renewal includes continuous improvement and productivity improvements and efficiency gains.  There's many initiatives underway to look at how do we improve, for example, our emergency response time, and training for our employees in that regard.

     We've been actively looking at and actually actioning the merging of jobs for efficiency purposes.  We also aren't just replacing job for job, but we're strategically hiring into core areas that help us achieve these goals.


For that reason, a three-year certainty will enable us to focus our efforts on a critical need to attract and develop the workforce talent.  Talent acquisition and the integration of new employees requires a dedicated long-term effort by all leaders at all levels.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Ms. Lethbridge.  Mr. Chairman, those are my questions.  The panel is now available for cross-examination.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Campbell?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, thank you very much.

     QUESTIONS BY MS. CAMPBELL:

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Mr. Couillard, this question is for you.  I must admit to being taken aback by the statement that the numbers in the application reflect the new methodology, the Rudden methodology.  Perhaps I misunderstood you.

     MR. COUILLARD:  The numbers that are used to calculate rates do not reflect the new methodology.  That's what I said.  So the answers to our interrogatories and the number including the Rudden, for example, includes our new methodology.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I remain confused by that.  I had understood that the Rudden report, the methodology was not yet in place.  And you're saying to me that it will be applied in the new rates, or in the numbers that you've provided, it has already been used?

     MR. COUILLARD:  In the Rudden report, the numbers -- it reflects the new methodology.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  And in the rest of the numbers that I've been given, they don't reflect the new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.

     MR. COUILLARD:  And the interrogatory answers reflect the new methodology.  The SLA numbers reflects the new methodology.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What are "SLAs", Mr. Couillard?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, service-level agreements that are signed -- I apologize -- between the different parties.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I’m going to get to some charts, and at some point I'm going to ask you again, because we really need to separate out what is and what isn't.  I understand that the numbers in the Rudden report use the new methodology, but I remain a little confused as to whether some of the other information that's provided does.  As we come to those charts, we'll deal with them as we come to that.  All right?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Fair enough.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The first thing that I would like to look at would be the large chart that was produced, because 

I'd like to start off by just getting a context.

     MR. RODGER:  And this is Exhibit S2.1?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  This is Exhibit S2.1.

     My purpose in starting off with S2.1 -- Mr. Vlahos, do you have your copy?

     MR. VLAHOS:  Go ahead, Ms. Campbell.  It's right here.  

I had followed it, so it doesn't stick out as -- okay.  I’m fine, thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  As I look at the top of this, 

Mr. Couillard, I'm looking along the top.  I see that -- and there's 2006 historical, 2007, 2008 EDR, ‘09 EDR, ‘10 EDR.

     And if I look, the bottom line is the distribution expense before PILs and amortization.  Do you see that?

     So distribution expense for 2006 historical is 169.5 million. For 2007, 171.6 million.  2008, 196.0 million.  2009, 206.4 million.  And 2010, 213.8 million.

     If I go to the very bottom, there is a left-hand side, it says: "Shared service RC summary."

     RC stands for what, sir?

     MR. COUILLARD:  It stands for responsibility centre.  

It's a department.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  It's a department?

     MR.COUILLARD:  It means the same thing.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Two words when you can use one, why?  Very nice.

     All right.  At the bottom we have 2006 historical.  

And the number that I'm interested in that's of importance going forward, we're looking at shared services OM&A.  For 

2006, that's 51.4 million.  And that's out of the 169 and a half at the top?  If I break it out, that's what the shared services represents?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  If I go through, for 2007, shared services are 57.0 million.  For 2008, 66.9 million.  2009, 

68.6 million.  And in 2010, 70.0 million.

     MR.COUILLARD:  The number that you are describing is what the shared services would be if we were to retransfer, or carve out the people that were transferred into the utility, bring them back and add them up to the shared services folks that are basically charging their time.

     So what the attempt was to do here is to do a comparison of the services that were transferred to the utility and bring them back and try to compare on a year-by-year basis.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And if I look at the shared services alone, just keeping my eye on the numbers in a row at the bottom, I notice -- and I've already cited what the changes are.  What I notice is that between 2006, the number is 51.4, and 2008 it's 66.9, and that's an increase of 30.2 percent.  Would you accept that number, subject to check?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And could you give me an explanation as to why that increase has occurred?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, there are several areas that, you know, we have some variance.

     The first one will be related to regulatory.  On the regulatory side, the 2006 number did not reflect any of our increased costs from regulatory standpoint, including these proceedings, including increased costs on OEB fees; there are a significant amount that are included in there.  

On the finance –-

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Can I stop you for a second?  You have finance rates and regulatory --

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  -- together.  Okay.  Thank you.

     MR. COUILLARD:  On the finance side, there's also an increase in finance staff to meet some of the Bill 198 requirements, which is internal control certification that is mandated, Bill 198 requirement.  So there is increased staff there.  There's also increased staff in the finance group to support the regulatory function, because, obviously, an application like this one will require a significant amount of people to work through.

     We've also had costs related to, you know, some of the consulting expense that we have in relation to some tax work that was done for the distribution company.  We have costs that are related to, if I consult some of my notes here, credit rating facilities, you know, some of the OSC filings that we have in there.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  When I look at the line that you were just talking about, which is the finance rates and regulatory line, and we had 11.9 million in 2006, the jump in 2007 to 16.5 million.  And you've explained that there were expenses related to Bill 198?

     MR. COUILLARD:  The same thing for 2008, the increase compounds in a way, because some of these expenditure were not for a full year in 2007.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And there were also expenses related to appearances before the -- I'm sorry, "appearances" is wrong.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Applications and proceedings before the 

OEB?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Right, we increased by approximately 10 people in this area.  Sorry, 12 people.  We've also increased our annual OEB costs.  I believe it's around $1.6 million increase.  We also believe that we have a significant increase of some of our credit facilities, some of the costs that we have in relation to issuing debt for the distribution company.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  You've provided all of the reasons now for the increase between 2006 and 2007, and then the increase again from 2007 to 2008?

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, I'm encompassing everything from '06 to 08, in this.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  My point is simply that there was a bump from 11.9 to 16.5, in 2007.  Then there's another $5-million bump in 2008.

     MR.COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I wanted to get from you all in a general sense the reason for those increases.

     MR. COUILLARD:  In the general sense, it's basically the same from one year, from '06 to '07, '07 to '08, because some of these initiatives are more than one year long.  So you have initiatives like Bill 198, which we have added way more costs in ’08.  We’ve added an internal audit department, for example, which we didn't have in the past.  We've increased our staffing in tax, which we finalized at the end of 2007.  We are going through a significant tax review right now with the Ministry.  There's a significant increase in requirements from a tax perspective that are given.


So a lot of these things, like, are like a two-year period that we've increased from, like, you know, '06 to '08, really.  It gives a better idea of, like, the whole.  But most of these initiatives are, like, two years in time.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  If I break out, and I take apart and subtract the shared-service summary number, so if I take 51.4 million from 169 and a half million, I get 118.1 million.  I'd just ask you to accept that, subject to check, that subtraction is correct.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And having done that process -- in other words, taking $57-million away from the 2007 171.6, I end up with 114.6.  For 2008, subtracting 66.9 from 196 million gives me 129.1.  For 2009, subtracting 68.6 from 206.4 million gives me 137.8.  And for 2010, if I subtract 70 million from 213.8 million, I end up with 143.8.

     Now, I'm just asking you to accept that that subtraction is correct, subject to check.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And looking at those numbers, I see an increase over that time period of approximately 9.3 percent, on the rest of the OM&A.  And I'm just wondering if you could generally address the reasons for that increase.

     MR. COUILLARD:  On all the other OM&As?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Just generally, when I look at the numbers across the board, I see the significant increase is in the shared services, which is 30.2 percent, between 2008 -- I'm sorry, between 2006 and 2008.  And I see a markedly less increase in the rest of the OM&A.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, if I may, this is not really -- the shared services costs is not $57-million for '07, and not 66.9 for -- I mean, I think we've provided those costs.

     This is an attempt to try to carve out some department -- compartment, just like by, you know, responsibility centre, and move them into what we say is shared services.

     The intent was never to go down and try to figure out what every one of those people were doing.  It's very difficult for us, because we changed our business model, to go and to draw, like, very simplistic conclusion that, well, this should be your amount of shared services if this hadn't happened, because it's almost impossible for us to go back and to carve out what these people are doing now.  So, I mean, it was an intent that was requested to us through the proceeding to try to match those.

     You know, do I think that 57 will be the cost of shared services for '07, or 67 would be the cost of shared services for '08?  I'm not ready to make that statement.

     So by ricochet, it means that, you know, when you look at the increase that you just described, I'm also not ready to comment that this is the only expenditure increase over that time that relates to the distribution of electricity.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, it's 12:25.  I suggest, because I have very specific questions, and I'm just about to go through these in some detail, that perhaps we leave that until after lunch.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll take our break now.


Who else will be asking questions of this panel?  Mr. Buonaguro?  How long do you anticipate that you'll be?  I'm just trying to gauge the rest of the afternoon appropriately.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Based on the detail that I think Board Staff is going through, I'm hoping it will be half an hour to an hour.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  We'll take a break until 1:45.  That will allow people to do -- that should allow us to complete this panel this afternoon and give people some time at the office if they need it.

     So we will break until 1:45.  Thank you.

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:53 p.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  Are 

there any preliminary matters?

     PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. RODGER:  Yes, a couple, Mr. Chairperson.

     First of all, in the morning session, Mr. Haines had given an Undertaking T2.1.  And this concerned whether there was a slide deck on strategic goals that was given to the Toronto Hydroelectric System Limited board.  And over the lunch break we have copies of that slide deck.  Again, this would be filed in confidence.

What I would propose, with the Board's permission, is to circulate this slide deck now, continue on with panel 2, which will likely take us to the afternoon break; and then, if my friends do have questions on this new exhibit, Mr. Haines, Mr. Couillard and Mr. Sardana will stay, and perhaps we could resume, and that way we could deal with it today.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Great.

     MR. RODGER:  And so I'll hand these out now.  Then perhaps then I could speak to the settlement agreement.  

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.  And perhaps this should be marked an exhibit, and, subject to the same confidentiality requirements as was S1.1, which was the business plan that was also filed.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So when we give this the designation, we'll put "confidential" in its name.  Thank you.  

     MR. RODGER:  Ms. Campbell, what would be the actual exhibit number for this?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The actual exhibit number would be 62.6. S2.  I apologize.  My head's filled with numbers right now.

EXHIBIT S2.6:  SLIDE DECK TREATED AS CONFIDENTIAL.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.

     And hopefully by this time, Mr. Chairman, you will have the correct revised version of the settlement agreement.  As I said at the outset, what we've tried to do is revise the language to clarify the issues that the  

Panel had raised on the first day of the proceeding.  And if you could first turn to page 7, perhaps I could read the settlement portion, which incorporates the clarifications for the record.

     So on page 7, it reads:

"Settlement.  Parties agree that the allowed return on equity will be updated prior to the beginning of the 2008 test year, and, if necessary, the 2009 and 2010 rate years, using the Board's ROE methodology.  Additionally, parties agree that the forecast cost of short-term debt and new long-term debt in a given test year will be updated using the Board's methodology for the deemed long-term and short-term debt rates to determine the corresponding rates applicable in that test year.  This methodology is defined in the report of the Board on cost of capital and second-generation incentive regulations for Ontario's electricity distributors dated December 20, 2006, and section 5.1, Cost of Capital ("The Board Guidelines").  The parties also agree that in the event this proceeding results in a rate order for 2009, the actual amount and interest rate applicable to any new long-term debt issued in 2008 will be reflected in the determination of revenue requirement for the 2009 test year.  That is, the actual cost of embedded debt, subject to the Board guidelines, will be updated prior to the commencement of the next test year.  If applicable an adjustment will be made in 2010, so that the 2010 revenue requirement will be updated to reflect those parameters for debt actually issued during 2008 and 2009.  THESL will file, prior to the beginning of each rate year (2008, 2009, and 2010) its projections for cost of capital (i.e., amount, timing and cost of debt and equity) and the associated change in revenue requirement for the forthcoming test year once the forecast ROE and debt rates are determined in accordance with the Board's methodology.  THESL will provide intervenors of record in this proceeding a copy of its filing in order to allow intervenors to submit any comments to the Board within five working days."

     So we understand that those revisions are acceptable to the parties, and we're hoping that that meets the Board's clarification concerns on that issue.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  And then, moving to the other issue 

Mr. Vlahos raised, issue 10.  And I'll just read the amendment there.  This is again starting at page 10, under issue 10.1, "Is the proposal for the continuation of existing variance and deferral accounts appropriate?"  And 

it now reads:

"Preamble. The OEB's Accounting Procedures Handbook (APH) identifies a series of deferral and variance accounts which utilities are permitted to use when recording qualified costs and revenues.  The agreement set out below does not alter any permissions granted in the APH, nor determine the validity of any existing deferral or variance account.  Narrowing of the issue:  The parties accept THESL's proposal for the continuation of existing variance and deferral accounts as set out in the APH.  THESL's proposal is to continue variance account treatment for distribution losses (RSVA power) and to discontinue the use of the Smart Meter deferral accounts (1555, 1556) remains unsettled."

     And then you'll see we've gone ahead and deleted the individual subset of accounts that we talked about yesterday.

     And again, this is acceptable to the parties.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

     The Board will accept the settlement agreement.  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  And what we'll do later this afternoon or tomorrow, we'll file a clean final copy with the Board and all parties.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does that conclude the preliminary matters?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, it does, sir.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Does the Panel wish to have that assigned a number?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't we wait until we get it?  

We'll get the clean copy, and then assign that an exhibit number.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Campbell.

     QUESTIONS BY MS. CAMPBELL:

MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

     Mr. Couillard.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I would like to ask you a few more questions.  I'm utterly confused by S2.2, and I'm hoping you can assist me to understand it before we go to the Rudden report.

     MR.COUILLARD:  I will do my best.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you, I appreciate it.

     I understand that the first table that I'm looking at on the first page says "EDR submission."  When I look at that, in summary form, it shows THESL's reorganization with the old allocation, shared services allocation methodology.  Am I correct?

     MR.COUILLARD:  What it shows for 2007, or '08, '09, and 10.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

     MR.COUILLARD:  There are two components.  The cost of shared services as we have it now.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

     MR.COUILLARD:  Based on the EDR submission, not the revised version that we saw this morning.  Plus the aggregation of all the departments that were transferred from share -- they used to be in shared services, that were transferred into THESL.

     So we've moved these back to trying to get to an aggregate number, which could be used as a proxy, but I would caution that this is not a hundred percent accurate.  There could be some changes.  For example, we took what we call responsibility centre -- it's a long word for "department", I acknowledge -- and we took these and we really moved them into one bucket.  We don't go into all the general ledger account to see if there were new things added in 2007 that didn't used to be part of shared services.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  If I look at this, this is the reorganized THESL, using the old allocation methodology.

     MR.COUILLARD:  It's -- no.  Depending on what you mean --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, let me -- you know what?  I think the easiest way, I'm going to ask you to turn up an undertaking, because there's an answer in it that causes me to believe that it will explain the basis for my question.

     If you could turn up R1, T1, Schedule 1.19.

     MR. RODGER:  And this is a Board Staff interrogatory, Ms. Campbell?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, it is.  So it's Exhibit R1, Tab 1, Schedule 1.19.  I'm looking at page 1.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And when I look at what you've got in S2.2, I see the first chart is EDR submission, and the second chart says, "Shared services, new methodology."


And the question that -- there was a question that was asked, and the answer is a bit more expansive than the question, but for clarity and for those who want to follow at home, the question is:

"It is noted that THESL performed a corporate reorganization in 2006, which resulted in the transfer and reporting of costs previously reported in the governance work unit.  Please prepare a reconciliation to show the activity and amount reallocated by work unit."

     And the response was this:

"The 2007 post-reorganization costs submitted in the 2008-2010 EDR application were based on the 2006 shared-services allocation methodology, as the new methodology was being developed at the same time as the application."

     Then it goes on to talk about the fact the new shared services cost allocation methodology will result in a decrease if applied to 2006.

     So what I'm trying to understand, when I read that answer, it causes me to believe that all of the numbers that I've looked at in the prefiled evidence are all based on -- they show the new organization, so to speak, that we've discussed before.  But they're based upon the 2006 shared services allocation methodology, not the one that was prepared for you by Rudden.  Is that correct?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, I think you're correct.  I think I'd misspoken this morning when I said that all the evidence in the EDR were all under the new methodology.  I think this interrogatory is used -- the $8.2-million that we have here.  And if I can refer to the --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  But if you could just stop for a moment.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I'd like to finish what I started, please.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Oh, okay.  It's just that I have a question to ask you on just where you've gone so far.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Okay.  I just want to make sure.  And the other -- I just want to -- there's another evidence that is in the application, which is Q1, T5, S1, which also uses the number prior to our adjustment that I've discussed this morning.  Sorry, I just wanted to clarify that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.

     MR. COUILLARD:  And I wanted to add some clarification to the matter.


All right.  Q1, T5, S1, and it's Appendix "A" and "B".

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  Okay.  So just to get back, to make sure that I understand.  And that's why I was thrown this morning by your answer.

     MR. COUILLARD:  I apologize for this.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The numbers that I've been looking at and that appear in all of the answers to undertakings and that are contained in the prefiled evidence are based upon what I will call the old shared services allocation methodology.  They don't reflect the application of the Rudden methodology.

     MR. COUILLARD:  All but three components.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And the three components are?

     MR. COUILLARD:  The service-level agreements reflect the new methodology, and the Rudden report.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  The service-level agreements reflect the new methodology.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  And the service-level agreements that you are referring to, sir, are those what I find in Exhibit Q1, Tab 3, Schedule 1?  Because those are the only  ones that I have.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  But I would like just to confirm and make sure.  I wouldn't mind taking an undertaking and confirm that with you after the break.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Just so that you have a complete undertaking, I have -- I'm just counting.  I believe I have five service-level agreements.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  That's -- you will have corp. to -- like -- yes, you have.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I have five.  And on a number of these, the costs have been redacted.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, for those that were related to unregulated business.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.

     MR. COUILLARD:  We have redacted the costs from a competitive standpoint.

     MR. RODGER:  We'll get you the exhibit, Mr. Couillard, then you can just go through it.  I don't think you need to give an undertaking if you can just pull up the exhibit.

     MR. COUILLARD:  I think I have the exhibit.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So it's Q1, and it's Tabs 1 through -- I apologize.  Tab 3, Schedules 1 through 5.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Now, if I look at the service agreement, I notice that the date on the face of the service agreement -- and I believe all of them -- is January 1st, 2007.  Is that correct?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  But the Rudden report that I have wasn't released until June 30th, 2007.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So you're telling me that, despite the fact that these contracts are dated six months prior to the completion of the Rudden report, they in fact reflect the new shared services allocation methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  What I -- what I said is that I'd like to check that, and I'm happy to take an undertaking on that.  That is my understanding.  And the reason why these contracts, the date is prior, is, this is -- we're talking about the effective date of the contract, which would be January 1st, 2007.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Now, are there other service-level agreements that Toronto Hydro has entered into?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Not to my knowledge.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So these are the only five service-level agreements that Toronto Hydro has, going forward?  Because I know in the evidence that THESL is providing services and purchasing services.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And so it strikes me there would be a service-level agreement for each of those, would there not?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, absolutely.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  And you've only filed five, so the five that are filed are the service-level agreements that are relevant for the three-year cost of service application you filed.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Give me just a couple of seconds just to go through that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.


--- Witness perusing document.

     MR. COUILLARD:  The -- sorry.  The service agreement that I would need an undertaking to review is if there is -- to my knowledge, there is no material service provided by telecom to our electric system company.  I do not note that there might be some Internet access or things like that that are very small.  I can take an undertaking and verify that.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Would you, please?  And that would be Undertaking T2.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. T2.4:  TO REVIEW WHETHER THERE WERE ANY OTHER SERVICE-LEVEL AGREEMENTS IN EXISTENCE THAT IMPACT TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED.
     MR. RODGER:  And just to be clear, Ms. Campbell, this was:  Were there any other service-level agreements in existence that impact Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes, please.  I'd just like to make sure that the evidentiary record is complete with regard to the service-level agreements.

     All right, Mr. Couillard.  So now I understand.  So all of the numbers that I've been looking at, save and except for those that are in the service-level agreement and in the Rudden report, are based upon what I'll call the old shared services methodology.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check for a service-level agreement, yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I appreciate that.

     Now, going back to S2.2, which was provided at the opening this morning, but actually -- sorry, referred to by you in your opening as panel 2.  When I look at what you've given me here, when the first chart says "EDR submission," what I am looking at is a chart that reflects the aggregate numbers that are contained in the application that's been filed we're discussing here today; right?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  The original numbers.  What I'm looking at under the second chart is the same information, so to speak, but it's run with the new shared services allocation methodology; am I correct?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So this is Rudden, and the one before is pre-Rudden.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Rudden did not change our methodology.  

This is our view of our new methodology, which was audited by Rudden, so the --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I'm sorry.  So THESL's new allocation methodology.  I'll give you credit for that.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That would be fine.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  That could be your new retailing arm.

     All right.  So we have the shared services new methodology.  And what I have below is the difference between the old methodology and the new methodology.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And if I do that on every single page, and each page shows a different series of transactions, so first page is "THESL pays to THC."  Second page "THESL sells to affiliates.  2007, '08, '09, and 10."

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Right.  Now, am I correct that THESL, going forward, is asking the Board to rely upon the numbers and the numbers going forward are the new numbers, the numbers that reflect the new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So the numbers that you're asking the 

Panel to approve are in the second panel.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Is THESL going to refile the application to reflect the shared services new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  We were planning on doing the update in rate finalization as taking it as a reduction of revenue requirement, basically.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So this would suggest that, in other 

Words -- See, what I find confusing is, what you're saying -- let me backtrack.

     What you're saying to me, then, is that you would like this Panel to approve the methodology, and the numbers that you're going to ask the Panel to approve, so to speak, but it's generally rates that get approved, the aspects of the rates that get approved.

     As a whole, what you're saying is you want those numbers.  Those are the numbers, going forward, that you're looking for.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Can you tell me why it is that you don't think that you should be updating the evidence now?

     MR. COUILLARD:  When we looked at the variances, the whole Rudden report was done based on this new methodology, and the conclusion that the Rudden report is driving is that the methodology is sound and complies with the Affiliate Relationship Code, and it also complies with the spirit of the 2006 decision.  So it is our belief that the Panel should take comfort into this report, and these costs.

And also through some of the interrogatories, you know, there has been a lot of discussion and a lot of evidence that was filed in regards to how these costs were derived, what were the methodologies used and how we arrived to these costs.  And that methodology has not really changed, based on some of the evidence we have.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Is what you're saying to me that the impact is such that it is not significant?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And you're relying on that, to just understand what you're saying -- you're saying if I look at the EDR submission chart, which is the first chart at the top of S2.2, and I compare the numbers of that chart to the one immediately below it, which is "Shared services new methodology," what you're saying is that it's THESL's opinion that the numbers don't alter that significantly that it merits refiling the evidence as it relates to the numbers?

     MR. COUILLARD:  What we're saying here is, considering that the net impact is approximately a million and a half per year for every of the base year, '08, '09, and 10, and considering the outcome of the Rudden report, we believe that the evidence that we have meets the burden of proof.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  In one of the answers -- sorry, a series of charts were produced in response to an undertaking by VECC, and I'm not going to ask you questions about them, but I would like you to turn it up, just simply because it's got a series of charts with a series of numbers and information.  And the numbers are clearly calculated in accordance with the old methodology.

     And the number is Exhibit R1, Tab 6, Schedule 3.

     The text is page 1 of 3, but what I would be asking you questions concerning would be Appendix "A" through "G".

     And I'm just asking you whether or not what you're saying is that THESL -- you don't consider the numbers would alter in these charts to any significant degree, if they were refiled or created using the new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check, this -- actually, 

VECC interrogatories were answered using the new methodology.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Now I'm getting confused, because now we keep having things that are answered in accordance with the new methodology.

     This is November 12th; the answer that you gave to VECC is November 12th.  You're saying this is the new methodology.  I started off by reading you an answer to an undertaking also debated in number 12, that says that all of the numbers are based on the shared services allocation methodology, the old one.

     Could you please tell me what else is in your evidence based on the new methodology?  All of this is new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  The new method -- the VECC answers that we have here, the same answer that was Board 1.23, is done using the new methodology.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So I23 (sic) also has the new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Any other pieces of information in here that are based on to the new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Exhibit R-1, Tab 6, Schedule 3, Appendix "B" is done using the new methodology.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Is "A" new also?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  That's the one we were just discussing.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So can I take it that "A, B, C, D, E, F, G" and "H" are all new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I'd like to take them one at a time.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So "A" is new.  "B" is new.  "C"?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is the new methodology.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  "D"?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  "D"?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I was already at D, sorry.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Appendix "D".

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, "C" is new methodology.  "D" is new methodology.  And I would think these are --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  These being "E, F, G" and "H"?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, sorry, they're all --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I sound like Sesame Street again.

     All right.  So I can take it that all of the appendices on R1, Tab 6, Schedule 3, all of them are new methodology.  And I1.23, which is -- I'm sorry, you also said the answer to I1.23 is new methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Let me just make sure so there is no misunderstanding.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Apology.  I think it's 1.22.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.

     MR. COUILLARD:  And it actually refers to the VECC.  Most of the answers all refer to the VECC interrogatories that we just talked about.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  All right.  But you do -- even if I misheard you or you misspoke, is I.23 also under the new methodology?  Would you mind casting your eye over that?  Because it's an interrogatory response concerning total annual shared services, and it has a very significant breakdown, and I'd like to know if that's new or old.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  It's also new?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


So could you just turn up -- since you have handy to you, the VECC interrogatory, which has all the appendices -- Appendix "G".  So it's the new methodology.  So if I compare Appendix "G" numbers to the shared services methodology, the new one, on the face of S2.2.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, I'm still turning to the VECC.  Can you just repeat the VECC interrogatories you want to refer to, please?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Certainly.  Just Appendix "G".

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So that's R1, Tab 6, Schedule 3 --


MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize, R1 --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- Appendix "G"?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  R1, Tab 6, Schedule 3, Appendix "G".  I know, there are too many pieces of paper.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Just remind me the number of the schedule.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  It's Appendix "G".

     MR. COUILLARD:  Tab 6, Schedule 3, Appendix...

     MR. RODGER:  "G".

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Tab 6, Schedule 3, Appendix "G".

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And you've got S2.2 in front of you?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  So if I compare Appendix "G" to shared services new methodology on the first page, those numbers should line up.  The 2008 projected service-level agreement numbers for 2008 should match.  We're looking at the same thing?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, I just want to make sure I read the interrogatories -- Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So if I run my eye down the 2008 column of shared services new methodology, the front page of S2.2, this is THESL paid to THC, and this is THC shared services allocation to THESL.  Should I have the same numbers in the 2008 column?

     MR. COUILLARD:  There are some small immaterial variances between the two.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  But if they're both based on the same methodology, shouldn't they be the same?

     MR. COUILLARD:  They should be.  There is a small -- I mean, we're talking about less than $100,000 here, about 50-, $60,000.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Well, so for 2008, under the new methodology that you provided today, the total for 2008 is $6,991,907.  And under Appendix "G", which was filed several weeks ago, it's $7,064,339.


Now, they're both using the same methodology.  Why is there a difference?

     MR. COUILLARD:  I cannot explain right now.  I'm happy to take an undertaking and come back to you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I would appreciate learning why there is a difference, if you're using exactly the same methodology, why the numbers change.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's fine.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And the numbers changed from November 12th, 2007 to December 4th, 2007.  And if there could be an explanation as to why that variation occurs, I would appreciate it.

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's fine.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And if you could also at the same time determine, if the application of the methodology leads to differences, that may of course indicate a problem with the methodology.


And so if you could undertake to make inquiries, if they could find out where the issue arises and how it can be rectified?  Because I'm sure that THESL would like to have an application of a methodology that's consistent going forward.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Do we have a number for that undertaking, Ms. Campbell?

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Yes.  Thank you for the prompt, Mr. Chair.  The number for that undertaking would be T2.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. T2.5:  TO FIND OUT WHY THERE IS A DIFFERENCE IF THE METHODOLOGY IS THE SAME; AN EXPLANATION AS TO WHY THE VARIATION OCCURS; AND TO MAKE INQUIRIES AS TO WHERE THE ISSUE ARISES AND HOW IT CAN BE RECTIFIED.
     MS. CAMPBELL:  And, Mr. Couillard, if at any time when we're discussing materials going forward, something else is done with the new methodology and you haven't raised it, I would appreciate it if you could let me know.

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  What I would like to turn to right now is the actual Rudden report.  There's been a lot of talk about it, and we might as well start with it, because that, obviously, is the basis for the numbers going forward.

     And for this series of questions, I'm going to ask that everybody pull up Q1, T1, S1; In fact, all of the Q materials.  So if you can pull out the binder that contains Q.

     Now, in Q, which sort of sounds like a James Bond movie, we have five tabs, and the first tab has the affiliate transactions report, and it's dated June 2007.  And I believe it is an internal document, is it?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  Thank you.


And the purpose -- or the reason that this affiliate transactions report, in fact, that Rudden was asked to do an independent overview, is explained on page 3 of the affiliate transactions report.  It's Section 2.3.


And Section 2.3, which is taken from pages 16 to 18 of the OEB decision of April 12th, 2006 -- for the purposes of the record, that's decision EB-2005-0421 -- and it lists the Board's concerns.  And this was in the application that was made by THESL back in 2006.


The Board's concerns were a lack of substantive evidentiary support for amounts recovered by THC from THESL, the use by THC of solely non-time-based allocators to determine amounts of shared services cost recovery from 

THESL, and the use of relative revenue as a proxy for time allocation of shared services costs. It also notes comments of interest.  

The end result was THESL was directed to go out and to develop a time-based shared services allocation methodology for a non-direct corporate cost that appropriates the following elements:  Time and cost tracking of individual efforts, a description of THESL's need for the service, and assessment protocol and allocation of non-time-related expenses.

     And then, finally, at this application a detailed report on the shared service allocation rationale and methodology as part of THESL's next rate application.

     And so, in response to that direction, you hired a number of experts.  The different experts and a précis of what they did are contained in the affiliate transactions report.  

Tab 2 of Q-1 is the shared services inventory, which explains the type of service that's provided, provides a service definition and the service provider and the service receiver company.

     The service-level agreements we've made reference to.

     Tab 4 is the actual Rudden report on the review of the shared services cost allocation methodology, dated June 

30th. And tab 5 is a bit more prefiled evidence text.

     Now, what I would like to do is briefly cover what it was that THESL did and then go forward into the Rudden report, just as a context.

     So if I go to page 5, page 5 has a schematic diagram.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Of which --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  I apologize.  Page 4 of the affiliate transactions report sets out two phases were followed.  

Phase I was methodology.  Phase II was implementation.  And on the back of that page is a schematic diagram that shows the shared services process flow; in other words, what you did.

     I'm just asking you right now:  You did not retain 

Rudden to actually come up with the methodology; you retained Rudden to review it?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Why was it decided that THESL would do it internally rather than hiring Rudden to do the entire development of the allocation methodology?

     MR. COUILLARD:  First, there was a question of cost. Obviously, it would have been more expensive for us to hire 

Rudden.  And we believed there was more in getting an independent opinion of our own methodology than getting somebody to build the methodology.  I mean, we wouldn't be able to get an opinion -- Rudden could not, of their own work -- it's a matter of audit work.  So we thought that we'll develop our own methodology and get some expert in the industry to audit it, which is what we've done.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Okay.  So, as I said, the Phase I and 

Phase II methodology is set out in text on Phase I methodology, and it sets out creating an inventory of affiliate company service transactions; determining if the services are required for THESL or affiliates, determining how to cost each service; establishing criteria for identifying potential fair market value comparisons for each service, where possible; and preparing a method to fairly allocate to the cost-of-services to the affiliates.     Now, after going through the various steps shown on page 5 in the diagram, it says: "2007 inventory of transactions."

     And then it has a little phrase that says: "Three-pronged test."

     And the three-pronged test is actually called the justification text in the affiliate transactions report.  

And it's on page 7.  The three-prong test actually comes from the OEB, does it not?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And my understanding is that actually, at least in here, is referred to as having been applied in the Enbridge case, when they had to come up with a shared services allocation methodology also?

     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And the three-pronged test is basically three things.  There's cost incurrence, which is where the 

corporate centre change (sic) is prudently incurred by or on behalf of the companies for the provision of services --     cost allocation.  I apologize.  Charges, not changes.

     Cost allocation, where the corporate centre charge is allocated appropriately to the recipient companies based on the allocation of cost drivers allocation factor supported by principles of cost causality and cost benefit.  Did the benefits to the company's Ontario ratepayers equal or exceed the costs?

     So that is the three-pronged test.  If I go back to the flow diagram, we then get to the step that says FMV or cost.  And that's explained on page 8, the costing framework is explained on page 8, and it shows that following the development of the inventory of transactions, the project team defined parameters for the application of fair market value and cost-based pricing.  And it indicates, in section 3.2.1 on page 8 of the affiliated transactions report, that:

"In establishing the price of a transaction, THESL followed the ARC protocol in determining that."

     And there's a --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Ms. Campbell, we appreciate the -- I know what you're trying to do is to provide the overall context for the questions, but I wonder if we could just get to the questions about the reports in the --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  We are.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  We are just about to move to it.  Thank you.

     Now, you hired Rudden but you also hired Singer &

Watts.  And Singer & Watts is referred to on page 

47-58.  And 47-58 is a synopsis of their report.  Their role in this, from what I can determine, is they were to look at various OEB decisions and determine which approach would be better.  Am I correct?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And they decided that Rudden would be the preferable one?

     MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And as I indicated, the Rudden report itself is Tab 1, Schedule 4.

     There was one other thing that I wanted to indicate before we leave the affiliated transactions report, and that appears at the very end of page 59 of the affiliated transactions report, and this appears to be a statement by 

Singer & Watts.

     MR. RODGER:  I'm sorry to interrupt, Ms. Campbell.  I'm just wondering, Mr. Chairman, would it be possible to lower the blinds?  I believe the witnesses are struggling a bit with --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm being rescued by Mr. Clark, who has leaped into action.

     MR. RODGER:  Thank you very much.  I apologize, 

Ms. Campbell.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  And it's the last paragraph, as I said, on page 59.  I think it's the back one.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This would be an appropriate time to take our break.  We will come back at 3 o'clock.  Hopefully by then we'll have the shades drawn and we can proceed.

     MR. DE VELLIS:  Mr. Chairman, excuse me, sorry, just before you rise.  Regarding this document that Mr. Rodger handed out earlier, Exhibit S2.6 Confidential.  I will have additional questions on it.  I'm just wondering, there is quite a bit of information.  I'm just wondering if I could be permitted to ask my questions on Thursday morning, as opposed to after the break.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would mean Mr. Haines would be required to come back on Thursday morning to answer those questions.  Mr. Rodger?

     MR. RODGER:  We would appreciate it if we could proceed this evening.  Mr. Haines would be the person to speak with us, and he may have a medical appointment on Thursday.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Buonaguro, you anticipate cross-examining this panel on compensation and shared services matters this afternoon for about 40 minutes or so?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yeah.  I think that still holds, although I'm going to be going through this new document as well, and having looked at it over the lunch break, I have some questions on it.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We spent a great deal of time trying to figure out what these documents actually mean and what they reflect, in terms of the evidence.  Now, I think we've got to that point.


Do you have any further issues about what is actually captured in those documents?  Are we going to --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Specifically?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, and in terms of comparing them to documents that are actually in the filing, and in the responses.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What I'm thinking of is perhaps having Mr. Haines testify now with respect to the business plan information, and giving perhaps that -- some additional time for digestion of these new tables, which appear to have caused considerable difficulty in sort of cross-examination preparation.  So --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine for, I guess, me.  I think Mr. DeVellis was suggesting that -- and he'll speak for himself -- but that he would actually like a chance to look at his new information before asking his questions in the next 15 minutes, and then --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, I'm thinking about giving him a little more time.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, okay.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what I was considering is asking this panel to stand down, using the remainder of today for Mr. Haines' testimony on the business plan material in-camera.  That would give Mr. DeVellis probably -- we would probably change our break to quarter after 3:00, which is not an abundance of time, Mr. DeVellis, but that's --

     MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine, Mr. Chairman.  All I would ask is, if there are additional questions after that, that I be able to ask them at another time, in the event Mr. Haines is here at some point during the hearing.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll cross that bridge when we get there, Mr. DeVellis.


So what I would propose to do, Mr. Rodger, if it's not a great inconvenience to this panel, is set them down until Thursday morning.  And we'll deal with Mr. Haines and his testimony in-camera this afternoon, complete that matter.


That would give, I think, the parties a bit of a better chance to digest some of the new -- it's not new material, I appreciate that, but reconfigured material in the exhibits.

     Is that satisfactory to the parties?

     MR. RODGER:  That's fine, Mr. Chairman.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will break until 3:15.


This panel is excused.  The normal caution, Mr. Rodger, is not to have discussions with the panel, but I leave that to you.  There may be some effort worthwhile in trying to clarify that.  You may want to discuss that with Mr. Buonaguro and Ms. Campbell.

     Mr. Haines, we'll continue with you after the break.  We'll go in-camera at that point, Mr. DeVellis, so you'll have your questions at that time, and we'll proceed from there.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:47 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:19 p.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

     We are now going to go into in-camera session for an examination arising from Exhibit S2.6 Confidential.  

Mr. DeVellis, as soon as I turn off the on-air button, you're free to proceed.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Before you do, Mr. Chair, do you want to satisfy yourself that all those who are here are subject to confidentiality undertaking?  I take it it would extend from the previous --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Rodger, does everyone here qualify?

     MR. RODGER:  Yes, sir.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. DeVellis.  

MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Mr. Chairman, before --

     MS. CAMPBELL:  You're still on air.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     MS. CAMPBELL:  Thank you.


--- In-camera session commenced at 3:20 p.m.

[Note: page 121, line 21 to page 137, line 21

have been redacted]


--- In-camera session concluded at 3:52 p.m.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We'll leave the in-camera portion at this stage.  There is a comment that I would like to make on the public record with respect to this document, and I'll do that now.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We should be back on the air.

     There may be some questions, Mr. Rodger, on Thursday morning when the compensation and shared services panel returns, that refers to items within this document.  I'm thinking that it's more appropriate to ask questions of that panel as they relate to compensation and shared services.  Care will be taken to ensure that there is no mention on the public record of any figures or material that would run afoul of the confidentiality interest of your client. But just so that Ms. Lethbridge has in her mind the idea that if she could be familiar with this document, so that, as we ask questions about those comparisons, those are the kind of questions we'll be looking to ask, that she will be familiar with this document and familiar with the prefiled evidence that is in the public record and the business plan.

     MR. RODGER:  We'll do that.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.

     Is there anything else for today?  We will --

     MR. HAINES:  Mr. Chair, sorry, I just had one quick comment as we were finishing off.  I just wanted to thank you for accommodating my calendar this week.  I recently injured myself in a wrestling match with my son, and I need to get an X-ray on Friday.  So we have a new rule in our home, no hitting your dad.


But I appreciate your accommodating --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How about him?  Does he need any medical treatment, or --

     MR. HAINES:  No, apparently, he came out unscathed and quite proud of it, apparently.  So thank you very much for accommodating --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Not at all.  Thank you, panel, for your return.


We'll adjourn now until Thursday morning.  We're back in this room at 9:30.  We will reconvene with the compensation and shared services panel.  And then we will follow that panel with the capital expenses, the first part of the capital expenses material.


Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of updates to the schedule, are we going to be receiving those?  I'm fine, because I'm here, but I know Pollution Probe was planning on capital, starting on Thursday.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I'm getting an affirmative nod from Mr. Clark that he will ensure that the usual suspects are advised.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thanks.

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  We're adjourned.  Thank you.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:54 p.m.
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